Security, (F,I)-security, and Ultra-security in Graphs

by

Caleb Petrie

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Auburn University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Auburn, Alabama August 4, 2012

Keywords: Graphs, Security, Hall's Theorem

Copyright 2012 by Caleb Petrie

Approved by

Peter Johnson, Chair, Professor of Mathematics & Statistics Dean Hoffman, Professor of Mathematics & Statistics Chris Rodger, Professor of Mathematics & Statistics

Abstract

Let G = (V, E) be a graph and $S \subseteq V$. The notion of security in graphs was first presented by Brigham et al [3]. A set S is secure if every attack on S is defendable. The cardinality of a smallest secure set of G is the security number of G.

We give several new definitions of security. We show that some of these new definitions are equivalent to the definition given by Brigham et al, while others are not. In these new situations, we find necessary and sufficient conditions for security. Various Hall-type theorems are used in these proofs. We also define analogues of the security number and find them for various classes of graphs.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Peter Johnson, for his work with me on this research. I also want to thank Dr. Ed Thurber and Dr. Walt Stangl of Biola University, for encouraging me to pursue graduate studies. Lastly, I would like to thank my parents, David and Janette Petrie, for their support of my education from the day it began. *Soli Deo Gloria*.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii												
Acknowledgments													
List of Figures													
List of Tables													
1 Introduction	1												
2 Integer and Fractional Security	2												
2.1 Definitons	2												
2.2 A New Proof of Theorem BDH	3												
2.3 The Equivalence of (I,I)-security, (I,F)-security, and (F,F)-security	4												
3 (F,I)-security	8												
3.1 Bipartite Graph Lemma	8												
3.1.1 A Proof Using the Max-Flow Min Cut Theorem	8												
3.1.2 A Proof by Induction	11												
3.2 Main Theorem	14												
3.3 (F,I)-security Numbers of Various Graphs	15												
3.3.1 Complete Multipartite Graphs	19												
4 Ultra-security	22												
4.1 A Necessary and Sufficient Condition	22												
4.2 The Ultra-security Number	23												
5 Relationships Between Security, (F,I)-security, and Ultra-security	29												
5.1 Ultra-security Implies (F,I)-security	29												
5.2 Relating Security, (F,I)-security, and Ultra-security	31												
5.2.1 An Infinite Family of Graphs	32												

6	Or	the Security Number of Regular Bipartite Graphs	34
	6.1	<i>d</i> -regular Bipartite Graphs with $s(G) = d$	34
	6.2	On the Security Number of Q_n	40
Bib	oliogr	aphy	42
Ap	pend	ices	43
А	An	Alternative Proof that (I,I)-security Implies (F,F)-security $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	44
В	А	Table of Security Numbers	47

List of Figures

3.1	The network formed from the bipartite graph G	10
3.2	The set $S = \{s_1, s_2, s_3\}$ is not (F,I)-secure	17
5.1	A graph G such that $s(G) = s_{(F,I)}(G) < s^u(G)$	32
5.2	A graph such that $s(G) = s_{(F,I)}(G) = s^u(G) = 3.$	33
6.1	$S = A \cup B$ is secure in a 4-regular, bipartite graph	36

List of Tables

B.1	Security Numbers .					•												•			•												4	7
-----	--------------------	--	--	--	--	---	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	---	--	--	---	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--	---	---

Chapter 1

Introduction

All graphs in this paper are finite and simple. For a graph G = (V, E) and $v \in V$ we will follow convention by letting $N(v) = \{u \mid uv \in E\}$, and $N[v] = \{v\} \cup N(v)$. For $S \subseteq V$, $N(S) = \bigcup_{v \in S} N(v)$ and $N[S] = N(S) \cup S$. If not clear by the context, the graph G may be indicated by the subscript: N_G . The foundation for the study of security in graphs was laid by Brigham, Dutton, and Hedetniemi in 2007 [3]. Security is a variation of the topic of alliances in graphs, which is a just a few years older [13]. Given a graph G = (V, E), they define an *attack* on $S = \{s_1, s_2, ..., s_k\} \subseteq V$ to be a collection of pairwise disjoint sets $A = \{A_1, A_2, ..., A_k\}$ for which $A_i \subseteq N[s_i] - S$, $1 \le i \le k$. A defense of S is a collection of pairwise disjoint sets $D = \{D_1, D_2, ..., D_k\}$ such that $D_i \subseteq N[s_i] \cap S$, $1 \le i \le k$. An attack is defendable if there is a defense D such that $|D_i| \ge |A_i|$ for $1 \le i \le k$. In this setting, each vertex in N[S] - S can attack only one of its neighbors in S, and each vertex in S can defend itself or one of its neighbors in S. The set S is defined to be *secure* if for every attack A on S there exists a defense of D of S such that $|D_i| \ge |A_i|$ for $1 \le i \le k$. Brigham et al show that a set S is secure if and only if for every $X \subseteq S$, $|N[X] \cap S| \ge |N[X] - S|$. They also define the security number of G, denoted s(G), to be the cardinality of a smallest secure set in G. Some results and unsolved questions about the security number can be found in [3, 4, 6, 12]. In the subsequent chapters we explore varying definitions of security, and their relationship to the original definition, and to each other.

Chapter 2

Integer and Fractional Security

We consider the cases in which a vertex may send out attack or defense to as many appropriate vertices as it wants, so long as the total amount of attack or defense from that vertex sums to at most one. This chapter is joint work with Dr. Garth Isaak and Dr. Peter Johnson and appears in [10].

2.1 Definitons

Let G = (V, E) be a graph and $S \subseteq V$. An *attack* on S is a function $A:(V-S) \times S \to [0,1]$ such that A(u, v) = 0 if $uv \notin E$ and for $u \in V - S$, $\sum_{v \in N(u) \cap S} A(u, v) \leq 1$. A *defense* of S is a function $D:S \times S \to [0,1]$ such that D(u,v) = 0 if $u \neq v$ and $uv \notin E$ and for $u \in S$, $\sum_{v \in N[u] \cap S} D(u,v) \leq 1$. Suppose that A is an attack on S and D is a defense of S. For $u \in S$ let $D^*(u) = \sum_{v \in N[u] \cap S} D(v,u)$ and $A^*(u) = \sum_{v \in N(u) - S} A(v,u)$. An attack A is *defendable* if there exists a defense D such that for each $u \in S$, $D^*(u) \geq A^*(u)$. The set S is *secure* if every attack on S is defendable.

The definition of attack and defense given by Brigham, et al in [3] corresponds to the case $A(u, v) \in \{0, 1\}$ for all $u \in (V - S), v \in S$ and $D(u, v) \in \{0, 1\}$ for all $u, v \in S$. We will refer to these as *integer attack* and *integer defense* respectively. This naturally leads to four scenarios:

- a) an integer attack against an integer defense, (I,I);
- b) an integer attack against a defense, (I,F);
- c) an attack against an integer defense, (F,I);
- d) an attack against a defense, (F,F).

(The letter F has been chosen to suggest the word "fractional".) For each situation there is a corresponding definition of security. For instance, a set S is (I,F)-secure if every integer attack is defendable. We now explore relationships among the different kinds of security.

2.2 A New Proof of Theorem BDH

Lemma. If $S \subseteq V$ is secure in G in any of the four senses, then for each set $X \subseteq S$, $|N[X] \cap S| \ge |N[X] - S|$.

Proof. Suppose that, for some $X \subseteq S$, $|N[X] \cap S| < |N[X] - S|$. Make an integer attack A on S by letting each vertex in |N[X] - S| attack any of its neighbors in X with its whole unit of attack. Let every other vertex in N[S] - S attack one of its neighbors in S, or none; it does not matter. Then for any defense D of S,

$$\begin{split} \sum_{x \in X} D^*(x) &= \sum_{x \in X} \sum_{u \in N[x] \cap S} D(u, x) = \sum_{u \in N[X] \cap S} \sum_{x \in X} D(u, x) \\ &\leq \sum_{u \in N[X] \cap S} 1 = |N[X] \cap S| < |N[X] - S| \\ &= \sum_{x \in X} A^*(x). \end{split}$$

Therefore, for any such D, there must be some $x \in X$ such that $D^*(x) < A^*(x)$. Thus A is not defendable, and so S is not secure. \Box

Brigham et al [3] gave a necessary and sufficient condition for a set to be (I,I)-secure. We shall refer to this as the BDH Theorem. As an aside, we give a short proof of this result using Hall's Theorem:

Theorem HRHV ([8, 14, 9]). Suppose $P_1, ..., P_n$ are sets and $k_1, ..., k_n$ are non-negative integers. There exist pairwise disjoint sets $D_1, ..., D_n$ such that $D_i \subseteq P_i$ and $|D_i| = k_i$ for

 $1 \leq i \leq n$ if, and only if, for each $J \subseteq \{1, ..., n\}, |\bigcup_{j \in J} P_j| \geq \sum_{i \in J} k_j$.

Theorem BDH. A set $S \subseteq V$ is (I,I)-secure if and only if $|N[X] \cap S| \ge |N[X] - S|$ for all $X \subseteq S$.

Proof. The necessity of the condition follows from the Lemma. Let G = (V, E) be a graph. Let $S = \{s_1, s_2, ..., s_n\} \subseteq V$ be a set such that $|N[X] \cap S| \ge |N[X] - S|$ for all $X \subseteq S$. Let $A = \{A_1, ..., A_n\}$ be an integer attack on S, by the original definition in [3]. Define $P_i = N[s_i] \cap S$ for $1 \le i \le n$. Thus P_i is the set of potential defenders of s_i . Let $k_i = |A_i|$ for $1 \le i \le n$; k_i is the number of attackers of s_i . For any $J \subseteq \{1, 2, ..., n\}$, let $X_J = \{s_j \mid j \in J\}$. Then we have $\sum_{j \in J} k_j = \sum_{j \in J} |A_j| \le |N[X_J] - S| \le |N[X_J] \cap S| = \left|\bigcup_{j \in J} P_j\right|$. By Theorem HRHV we can find $D_i \subseteq P_i$ for $1 \le i \le n$ such that the D_i are pairwise disjoint and $|D_i| = k_i$.

As remarked in [3], Theorem BDH shows that the problem of deciding whether or not $S \subseteq V$ is (I,I)-secure is in co-NP: S is not (I,I)-secure if and only if there is a certificate proving that it is not, a set $X \subseteq S$ such that $|N[X] \cap S| < |N[X] - S|$. Reportedly, Dutton [5] has recently shown that the problem is co-NP-complete.

2.3 The Equivalence of (I,I)-security, (I,F)-security, and (F,F)-security

In order to prove the next result, we need the following analogue of Hall's Theorem due to Bollobás and Varopoulos [1].

Theorem BV. Suppose that (X, μ) is an atomless measure space, $M_1, ..., M_n$ are subsets of X of finite measure, and $r_1, ..., r_n$ are non-negative real numbers. There exist pairwise disjoint sets $C_1, ..., C_n$ such that $C_i \subseteq M_i$ and $\mu(C_i) = r_i, 1 \le i \le n$, if, and only if, for each

$$J \subseteq \{1, ..., n\}$$
 we have $\mu(\bigcup_{j \in J} M_j) \ge \sum_{j \in J} r_j$.

Theorem. Let G = (V, E) be a graph and $S \subseteq V$. Then (a) S is (I,I)-secure \Leftrightarrow (b) S is (I,F)-secure \Leftrightarrow (c) S is (F,F)-secure.

Proof. We will show (c) \Rightarrow (b) \Rightarrow (a) \Rightarrow (c). If S is (F,F)-secure then all attacks on S are defendable, so all integer attacks on S are defendable. Thus S is (I,F)-secure. Now suppose S is (I,F)-secure. By the Lemma, for any $X \subseteq S$ it must be that $|N[X] \cap S| \ge |N[X] - S|$. Therefore, by the BDH Theorem, S is also (I,I)-secure.

Let S be (I,I)-secure. Then $|N[X] \cap S| \ge |N[X] - S|$ for all $X \subseteq S$. Let $A:(N(S) - S) \times S \to [0,1]$ be an attack on S. (We restrict the domain of the attackers to N(S) - S because all vertices in V - N(S) will have no attack.) Recall that for $v \in S$, $A^*(v) = \sum_{u \in N(v) - S} A(u, v)$. Let $\{I(v)|v \in S\}$ be an indexed family of pairwise disjoint unit intervals in the real numbers. These are the defense reservoirs of the vertices of S. For $v \in S$ let $M(v) = \bigcup_{w \in N[v] \cap S} I(w)$. This is the total defense available to v. So we have another indexed family $\{M(v)|v \in S\}$. Let λ denote the Lebesgue measure. To achieve a successful fractional defense against the attack A, it suffices to find an indexed family $\{C(v)|v \in S\}$ of pairwise disjoint Lebesgue measurable sets such that for all $v \in S$, $C(v) \subseteq M(v)$ and $\lambda(C(v)) = A^*(v)$. If such a family is found, define a defense $D:S \times S \to [0,1]$ by $D(w,v) = \lambda(I(w) \cap C(v))$.

Then for $\mathbf{v} \in S$ we would have

$$D^*(v) = \sum_{w \in S} D(w, v)$$

= $\sum_{w \in S} \lambda(I(w) \cap C(v))$
= $\lambda(\bigcup_{w \in S} (I(w) \cap C(v)))$ [the intervals $I(w), w \in S$ are pairwise disjoint]
 $\geq \lambda(M(v) \cap C(v)) = \lambda(C(v)) = A^*(v).$

Also for each $w \in S$,

$$\sum_{v \in S} D(w, v) = \sum_{v \in S} \lambda(I(w) \cap C(v))$$
$$= \lambda(\bigcup_{v \in S} (I(w) \cap C(v)) \le \lambda(I(w)) = 1.$$

So D is a defense of S, and it defends against A.

Now we will show that $|N[X] \cap S| \ge |N[X] - S|$ for all $X \subseteq S$ implies the existence of such a family $\{C(v) \mid v \in S\}$. By Theorem BV, it is sufficient to show that for all $X \subseteq S$, $\sum_{v \in X} A^*(v) \le \lambda(\bigcup_{v \in X} M(v))$. Suppose $X \subseteq S$. We have

$$\begin{split} \lambda(\bigcup_{v \in X} M(v)) &= \lambda(\bigcup_{v \in X} (\bigcup_{w \in N[v] \cap S} I(w))) \\ &= \lambda(\bigcup_{w \in N[X] \cap S} I(w)) = \sum_{w \in N[X] \cap S} \lambda(I(w)) \\ &= \sum_{w \in N[X] \cap S} 1 = |N[X] \cap S| \ge |N[X] - S| \\ &\ge \sum_{u \in N[X] - S} \sum_{v \in S} A(u, v) \ge \sum_{u \in N[X] - S} \sum_{v \in X} A(u, v) \\ &= \sum_{v \in X} \sum_{u \in N[X] - S} A(u, v) = \sum_{v \in X} A^*(v). \quad \Box \end{split}$$

This leaves the question of how (F,I)-security relates to (I,I)-security. Clearly, (F,I)security implies (I,I)-security, but we will show the converse does not hold.

Example. In [3] it is seen that any $\lceil \frac{n}{2} \rceil$ vertices of K_n form an (I,I)-secure set; however, n-1 vertices are needed to be (F,I)-secure. Let $S = \{s_1, ..., s_k\} \subseteq V(K_n)$ such that $k \leq n-2$. Then $|V(K_n) - S| \geq 2$. Let $v_1, v_2 \in V(K_n) - S$. Let $A(v_1, s_i) = \frac{1}{|S|}$ for $1 \leq i \leq k$ and $A(v_2, s_1) = 1$ and $A(v_2, s_i) = 0$ for $2 \leq i \leq k$. A successful integer defense of this attack requires |S| + 1 defenders, so S is not (F,I)-defendable. So, in order for S to be (F,I)-secure, $|S| \ge n-1$. Any set S such that |S| = n-1 is (F,I)-secure.

So an (F,I)-secure set has a greater security than a set that is only (I,I)-secure. We give a necessary and sufficient condition, in the spirit of Theorem BDH, for (F,I)-security in Chapter 3. It may be possible to obtain results similar to Theorem BDH and the main theorem of this chapter when attack and defense capabilities are extended to general values, and are not necessarily constant from vertex to vertex.

Chapter 3

(F,I)-security

Let G = (V, E) be a graph. We now give a necessary and sufficient condition for a set $S \subseteq V$ to be (F,I)-secure. The (F,I)-security number of G, $s_{(F,I)}(G)$, is the cardinality of a smallest (F,I)-secure set. The values of the (F,I)-security number for various classes of graphs is determined.

3.1 Bipartite Graph Lemma

We develop a lemma about bipartite graphs for use in the proof of the Main Theorem. This lemma is also used in determing the (F,I)-security number of various families of graphs, including complete multipartite graphs. In the setting of (F,I)-security, the vertices that are attacking can fractionalize, but defending vertices cannot. Thus, in order for S to be (F,I)-secure, for any attack A there must be an integer defense D such that $D^*(s) \ge \lceil A^*(s) \rceil$ for all $s \in S$. In this case, we may as well suppose that every $s \in S$ contributes 1 to the sum $\sum_{s \in S} D^*(s)$, and so we have $|S| = \sum_{s \in S} D^*(s) \ge \sum_{s \in S} \lceil A^*(s) \rceil$. Given an attack A on a set S in an (F,I)-security setting, the *total effective attack* is $\sum_{s \in S} \lceil A^*(s) \rceil$.

Bipartite Graph Lemma. Let G be a connected bipartite graph with bipartition (X, Y). Among (F,I)-attacks on Y, the maximum total effective attack possible is |X| + |Y| - 1.

3.1.1 A Proof Using the Max-Flow Min Cut Theorem

Lemma 1. Let G be a complete bipartite graph with bipartition (X, Y). Among (F,I)attacks on Y, the maximum total effective attack possible is |X| + |Y| - 1.

Proof. Let $X = \{x_1, ..., x_m\}$ and $Y = \{y_1, ..., y_n\}$. Then we are looking for the largest possible value of $\sum_{i=1}^{n} \lceil a_i \rceil$ where $a_1, ..., a_n$ are non-negative real numbers that sum to m. We have

$$\lceil a_i \rceil < a_i + 1, \ i = 1, ..., n$$

$$\Rightarrow \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lceil a_i \rceil < \sum_{i=1}^{n} (a_i + 1) = m + n$$

$$\Rightarrow \sum_{i=1}^{n} \lceil a_i \rceil \le m + n - 1.$$

To achieve the bound in this inequality, let $A(x_1, y_j) = \frac{1}{n}$ for $1 \le j \le n$; and let $A(x_i, y_1) = 1$ for $2 \le i \le m$. \Box

Corollary 1. Let G be a bipartite graph with bipartition (X, Y). For any (F,I)-attack on Y, the total effective attack is less than or equal to |X| + |Y| - 1.

The proof of Lemma 1 gives a solution to a problem proposed in [11]. Next we use the Max-Flow Min-Cut Theorem to show that this upper bound can be achieved when G is a tree.

Lemma 2. Let G = (V, E) be a tree with bipartition (X, Y). Define $f: V \to [0, \infty)$ by f(v) = 1 for $v \in X$ and $f(v) = d_G(v) - \frac{|Y|-1}{|Y|}$ for $v \in Y$. Then there exists a function $wt: E \to [0, \infty)$ such that for all $v \in V$,

$$f(v) = \sum_{\substack{e \in E \\ e \text{ incident to } v}} wt(e).$$

Proof. Create a digraph D from G by directing every edge from X to Y. Add a vertex s and for each $x \in X$, form an arc directed from s to x. Similarly, add a vertex t and for each $y \in Y$, form an arc directed from y to t. Let $\mathcal{A}[s, X]$ be the set of arcs with one end at s

and one end in X, $\mathcal{A}[Y,t]$ be the set of arcs with one end in Y and one at t, and $\mathcal{A}[X,Y]$ denote the arcs with one end in X and one end in Y. From this digraph, form a network by designating s the source and t the sink (see Figure 3.1). Define the capacity function c as follows: c(a) = 1 if $a \in \mathcal{A}[s,X]$, $c(a) = d_G(y) - \frac{|Y|-1}{|Y|}$ if $a \in \mathcal{A}[Y,t]$, and $c(a) = \infty$ otherwise. Note that $\sum_{a \in \mathcal{A}[Y,t]} c(a) = |X|$, because G is a tree.



Figure 3.1: The network formed from the bipartite graph G.

If we can find a flow in this network of value |X|, then the desired function wt on E(G)can be found by assigning $wt(e), e \in E(G)$, to be equal to the flow of the corresponding arc. To show we can find a flow of value |X|, we will show that the minimum cut has capacity |X|. The capacity of a minimum cut is clearly less than or equal to |X|, because we can form a cut by taking all the arcs of $\mathcal{A}[s, X]$ (or all the arcs of $\mathcal{A}[Y, t]$). Now we will show that every other cut has a capacity bigger than |X|.

Any cut including an arc of $\mathcal{A}[X, Y]$ will have infinite capacity. The only other cuts to check must include some, but not all, arcs of $\mathcal{A}[s, X]$ and some, but not all, arcs of $\mathcal{A}[Y, t]$. Let K be a cut that has at least one arc of $\mathcal{A}[s, X]$ and at least one arc of $\mathcal{A}[Y, t]$. Let $X_0 = \{x | x \in X \text{ and } (s, x) \notin K\}$ and $Y_0 = \{y | y \in Y \text{ and } (y, t) \notin K\}$. By assumption about $K, |X_0| \ge 1$ and $|Y_0| \ge 1$. Note that there are no arcs between X_0 and Y_0 ; otherwise Kwould not be a cut. The capacity of the cut K is $|X - X_0| + \sum_{y \in Y - Y_0} \left(d_G(y) - \frac{|Y| - 1}{|Y|} \right)$. Since each edge of G has one end in X and one end in Y, $\sum_{y \in Y-Y_0} d_G(y)$ is the number of edges of G with one end in $Y-Y_0$. G has |X|+|Y|-1 edges. Each edge has an end in $Y-Y_0$ or in Y_0 . An edge with an end in Y_0 must have its other end in $X-X_0$, as noted above. Looking at the forest induced in G by $(X-X_0) \cup Y_0$, the most edges it can have is $|X-X_0|+|Y_0|-1$. Thus, $\sum_{y \in Y-Y_0} d_G(y) \ge (|X|+|Y|-1) - (|X-X_0|+|Y_0|-1) = |X|-|X-X_0|+|Y-Y_0|$. So we have

$$\begin{aligned} c(K) &= |X - X_0| + \sum_{y \in Y - Y_0} \left(d_G(y) - \frac{|Y| - 1}{|Y|} \right) \\ &\geq |X - X_0| + |X| - |X - X_0| + |Y - Y_0| - \frac{|Y| - 1}{|Y|} |Y - Y_0| \\ &= |X| + |Y - Y_0| - |Y - Y_0| + \frac{|Y - Y_0|}{|Y|} \\ &= |X| + \frac{|Y - Y_0|}{|Y|} \\ &\geq |X|. \quad \Box \end{aligned}$$

Let G = (V, E) be a connected bipartite graph with bipartition (X, Y). By Corollary 1, |X| + |Y| - 1 is an upper bound for the total effective attack on Y. Also, G has a spanning tree, and thus can achieve the bound of |X| + |Y| - 1 by Lemma 2. One attack that achieves this bound corresponds naturally to the function wt.

3.1.2 A Proof by Induction

Here we prove a more general result that implies the Bipartite Graph Lemma. Let $f: V \to [0, \infty)$. A function $wt: E \to [0, \infty)$ represents f if for all $v \in V$,

$$f(v) = \sum_{\substack{e \in E \\ e \text{ incident to v}}} wt(e).$$

Lemma 3. Let G = (V, E) be a tree and $f: V \to [0, \infty)$. Let (X, Y) be a bipartition of G. If for all S such that $S \subseteq X$ or $S \subseteq Y$, $f(S) = \sum_{s \in S} f(v) \leq f(N_G(S))$, then there exists a function $wt: E \to [0, \infty)$ that represents f.

Proof. Let (*) be the condition that for all S such that $S \subseteq X$ or $S \subseteq Y$, $f(S) = \sum_{s \in S} f(v) \leq f(N_G(S))$, and assume (*) holds. We will proceed by induction on $|X| + |Y| \geq 2$. First let |X| + |Y| = 2. Then $V = \{u, v\}$ and $E = \{uv\}$. $f(v) \leq f(u)$ and $f(u) \leq f(v)$, so f(v) = f(u). Define wt(uv) = f(u). Now suppose that |X| + |Y| > 2. Let u be a leaf in G. Without loss of generality, $u \in X$. Let v be the neighbor of u. By (*), $f(u) \leq f(v)$. Define \tilde{f} on G - u by $\tilde{f}(v) = f(v) - f(u)$ and $\tilde{f}(w) = f(w)$ for all other $w \in V(G - u)$. We will show that the tree G - u and the function \tilde{f} satisfy (*). If $S \subseteq X - u$ and $v \notin N_G(S) = N_{G-u}(S)$, then $\tilde{f}(S) = f(S) \leq f(N_G(S)) = \tilde{f}(N_{G-u}(S))$. If $v \in N_G(S)$, then $\tilde{f}(S) + f(u) = f(S \cup \{u\}) \leq f(N_G(S \cup \{u\})) = f(N_{G-u}(S)) = \tilde{f}(N_{G-u}(S)) + f(u)$. So we get that $\tilde{f}(S) \leq \tilde{f}(N_{G-u}(S))$.

Now suppose $S \subseteq Y$. If $v \notin S$, then $\tilde{f}(S) = f(S) \leq f(N_G(S)) = \tilde{f}(N_{G-u}(S))$. If $v \in S$ then $\tilde{f}(S) = f(S) - f(u) \leq f(N_G(S)) - f(u) = f(N_{G-u}(S)) = \tilde{f}(N_{G-u}(S))$. So G - uwith \tilde{f} satisfies (*). So there is a $\tilde{wt} : E(G - u) \to [0, \infty)$ representing \tilde{f} by the induction hypothesis. Extend \tilde{wt} to E(G) by putting weight f(u) on the edge uv. Call this extension wt. It is straight forward to see that wt represents f. \Box

Lemma 4. If G is a tree with bipartition (X, Y) then there exists an attack on Y by X with a total effective attack of |X| + |Y| - 1.

Proof. Define f(v) = 1 for $v \in X$ and $f(v) = d_G(v) - \frac{y-1}{y}$ for $v \in Y$ where |Y| = y. We will show f can be represented by a function wt by applying Lemma 2. First suppose that $S \subseteq Y$. For any graph H let c(H) denote the number of connected components of H. Let

H(S) be the subgraph of G induced by $S \cup N_G(S)$. Note that H(S) is a forest. Then

$$f(S) = \left(\sum_{v \in S} d_G(v)\right) - \frac{y-1}{y}|S|$$

= $|E(H(S))| - \frac{y-1}{y}|S|$
= $|V(H(S))| - c(H(S)) - \frac{y-1}{y}|S|$
= $|S| + |N_G(S)| - c(H(S)) - \frac{y-1}{y}|S|$
= $|N_G(S))| + \frac{1}{y}|S| - c(H(S))$
 $\leq |N_G(S)| + 1 - c(H(S))$
 $\leq |N_G(S)|$
= $f(N_G(S)).$

Now suppose that $S \subseteq X$. We want to show the following inequality:

$$f(S) = |S|$$

$$\leq f(N_G(S))$$

$$= \left(\sum_{v \in N_G(S)} d_G(v)\right) - \frac{y-1}{y} |N_G(S)|$$

$$= |E(H(N_G(S)))| - \frac{y-1}{y} |N_G(S)|$$

$$= |N_G(S)| + |N_G(N_G(S))| - c(H(N_G(S))) - \frac{y-1}{y} |N_G(S)|$$

$$= |N_G(N_G(S))| + \frac{1}{y} |N_G(S)| - c(H(N_G(S))).$$

If $N_G(S) = Y$, then $c(H(N_G(S))) = 1$ and $\frac{1}{y}|N_G(S)| = \frac{1}{y}|Y| = 1$. So we need $|S| \le |N_G(N_G(S))|$. This holds because $S \subseteq N_G(N_G(S))$.

Otherwise, $|N_G(S)| < |Y|$ so $N_G(S) \subsetneq Y$. It suffices to show that $|S| + c(H(N_G(S))) \le |N_G(N_G(S))|$. Let $u \in Y$ such that $u \notin N_G(S)$. We will see that every component of

 $H(N_G(S))$ contains a vertex in $N_G(N_G(S)) - S$ that is not in any other component. If a component C of $H(N_G(S))$ did not have any vertices in $N_G(N_G(S)) - S$, then it would not be connected in G to u, a contradiction. So C must have a vertex in $N_G(N_G(S)) - S$, and it is not in any other component because components do not share vertices. So we have $|S| + c(H(N_G(S))) \leq |S| + |N_G(N_G(S)) - S| = |N_G(N_G(S))|.$

So we can find a function wt to represent f. Define an attack A by A(u, v) = wt(uv)for every $u \in X$ and $v \in Y$. The total effective attack is then

$$\sum_{v \in Y} \lceil f(v) \rceil = \sum_{v \in Y} \left\lceil d_G(v) - \frac{y - 1}{y} \right\rceil = \sum_{v \in Y} d_G(v) = |E(G)| = |X| + |Y| - 1. \quad \Box$$

The Bipartite Graph Lemma follows from Lemma 1 and Lemma 4.

3.2 Main Theorem

Given a graph G = (V, E) and a set $S \subseteq V$, the set of edges with one end in set V - Sand one end in S induces a graph whose components are connected bipartite graphs. By looking at the total effective attack possible from the attackers in each component, we can develop a necessary and sufficient condition for (F,I)-security.

Let G = (V, E) be a graph and $S = \{s_1, s_2, ..., s_k\} \subseteq V$. For $X \subseteq S$, let G^X denote the subgraph of G whose vertex set is $X \cup (N[X] - S)$ and whose edge set is E[X, N[X] - S], the set of edges of G with one end in X and the other in N[X] - S. Let $C_1, C_2, ..., C_t$ be the components of G^X . Let $X_i = V(C_i) \cap X$ for $1 \leq i \leq t$.

Each C_i is a connected bipartite graph with bipartition $(X_i, N_G[X_i] - S)$. So the maximum total effective attack from $N_G[X_i] - S$ to X_i is $|X_i| + |N_G[X_i] - S| - 1$. Since X_i , $1 \le i \le t$, are pairwise disjoint, the most attack that can be sent from V - S to X is $\sum_{i=1}^{t} (|X_i| + |N_G[X_i] - S| - 1) = |X| + |N_G[X] - S| - c(G^X)$, where $c(G^X)$ denotes the number of components of G^X .

In order for S to be (F,I)-secure, it is thus necessary that for all $X \subseteq S$, $|N_G[X] \cap S| \ge |X| + |N_G[X] - S| - c(G^X)$. The Main Theorem states that this condition is also sufficient:

Main Theorem. Let G = (V, E) be a graph and $S \subseteq V$. Then S is (F,I)-secure if, and only if, $|N_G[X] \cap S| \ge |X| + |N_G(X) - S| - c(G^X)$ for all $X \subseteq S$.

The use of Theorem HRHV to prove the sufficiency of this condition is similar to the use of Theorem HRHV in Chapter 2.2 and Chapter 4.1.

Theorem HRHV ([8, 14, 9]). Suppose $P_1, ..., P_n$ are sets and $k_1, ..., k_n$ are non-negative integers. There exist pairwise disjoint sets $D_1, ..., D_n$ such that $D_i \subseteq P_i$ and $|D_i| = k_i$ for $1 \le i \le n$ if, and only if, for each $J \subseteq \{1, ..., n\}, |\cup_{j \in J} P_j| \ge \sum_{j \in J} k_j$.

Proof of Main Theorem. Necessity has already been proven. Let G = (V, E) be a graph and let $S = \{s_1, s_2, ..., s_n\} \subseteq V$ be such that for all $X \subseteq S$, $|N_G[X] \cap S| \ge |X| + |N_G(X) - S| - c(G^X)$. Let A be any attack on S, and $P_i = N[s_i] \cap S$ for $1 \le i \le n$. Let $k_i = \lceil A^*(s_i) \rceil$ for $1 \le i \le k$. Then P_i is the set of potential defenders of s_i , and k_i is the number of defenders of s_i needed for a successful defense of A. For any $J \subseteq \{1, ..., n\}$ let $X_J = \bigcup_{j \in J} \{s_j\}$. Then we have $\sum_{j \in J} k_j \le |X_J| + |N_G(X_J) - S| - c(G^{X_J}) \le |N_G[X_J] \cap S| = |\bigcup_{j \in J} (N_G[s_j] \cap S)| = |\bigcup_{j \in J} P_j|$. By Theorem HRHV we can find pairwise disjoint $D_i \subseteq P_i$, $1 \le i \le n$, such that $|D_i| = k_i$ for $1 \le i \le n$. Then $D = \{D_1, ..., D_n\}$ is a succesful defense of A.

3.3 (F,I)-security Numbers of Various Graphs

Recall that for any graph G, $s(G) \leq s_{(F,I)}(G)$. Given two graphs G and H, we denote their cartesian product by $G \Box H$ and their join by $G \lor H$. The path on n vertices is denoted by P_n . Let $F_n = K_1 \lor P_n$ and $W_n = K_1 \lor C_n$. As observed in [3], it is clear that a minimum secure set is connected; that is, a minimum secure set induces a connected subgraph of the graph in which it is a minimum secure set. Likewise, a minimum (F,I)-secure set is connected.

Proposition. Let G = (V, E) be a graph. 1) $s_{(F,I)}(G) = 1$ if and only if $\delta(G) \le 1$. 2) $s_{(F,I)}(G) = 2$ if and only if $\delta(G) = 2$ and there exists $uv \in E$ such that d(u) = d(v) = 2. 3) $s_{(F,I)}(P_n \Box P_m) = \min\{m, n, 4\}$. 4) $\min\{m, 2n, 6\} \le s_{(F,I)}(C_m \Box P_n) \le \min\{m, 2n, 8\}$. 5) $s_{(F,I)}(F_n) = 1 + \lceil \frac{n}{2} \rceil, n \ge 2$. 6) $s_{(F,I)}(W_n) = 1 + \lceil \frac{n+1}{2} \rceil, n \ge 3$.

Proof. 1) A vertex of degree zero or one is (F,I)-secure, but any vertex of greater degree is not.

2) By the first result, $\delta(G) > 1$ is necessary for $s_{(F,I)}(G) = 2$. Let $S = \{u, v\}$ be (F,I)-secure. Since a minimum (F,I)-secure set is connected, $uv \in E$. In order to be (F,I)-secure, S must also be secure. So $|N[S] - S| \leq 2$, which forces $d(u) \leq 3$ and $d(v) \leq 3$. If d(u) = 3 or d(v) = 3, then $c(G^S) = 1$, |N[S] - S| = 2, and $|S| + |N[S] - S| - c(G^S) = 3 > |S|$. So by the Main Theorem, S is not (F,I)-secure. Thus d(u) = d(v) = 2 is necessary. If $S = \{u, v\}$, $uv \in E$, and d(u) = d(v) = 2, then the defense where u defends itself and v defends itself is successful against any attack.

3) In [3] it is shown that $s(P_n \Box P_m) = \min\{m, n, 3\}$. For the first case, suppose $\min\{m, n\} \leq$ 3. Then $s_{(F,I)}(P_n \Box P_m) \geq s(P_n \Box P_m) = \min\{m, n, 3\} = \min\{m, n\}$. The *n* vertices that make up the end vertices of the P_m paths form an (F,I)-secure set, and the *m* vertices that make up the end vertices of the P_n paths form an (F,I)-secure set. So $s_{(F,I)}(P_n \Box P_m) = \min\{m, n\}$. Now suppose that $\min\{m, n\} \geq 4$. Then $s_{(F,I)}(P_n \Box P_m) \geq s(P_n \Box P_m) = \min\{m, n, 3\} = 3$. If *S* consists of a corner and its two neighbors, let $S = \{s_1, s_2, s_3\}$, $N[S] - S = \{v_1, v_2, v_3\}$ and $\{s_1s_2, s_1v_1, s_1v_2, s_3s_2, s_3v_2, s_3v_3\}$ be a subset of the edges (see Figure 3.2). Then the attack A defined by $A(v_1, s_1) = 1, A(v_2, s_1) = 0.5, A(v_2, s_3) = 0.5$, and $A(v_3, s_3) = 1$ is not defendable. Any other S such that |S| = 3 satisfies |S| < |N[S] - S| and is not secure, much less (F,I)-secure. Four vertices that induce a 4-cycle and include a corner vertex forms an (F,I)-secure set. So in this case, $s_{(F,I)}(P_n \Box P_m) = 4$.



Figure 3.2: The set $S = \{s_1, s_2, s_3\}$ is not (F,I)-secure.

4) Kozawa et al [12] show that $s(C_m \Box P_n) = \min\{m, 2n, 6\}$. This settled a conjecture of Brigham et al [3]. This gives the lower bound for the (F,I)-security number. Two consecutive copies of P_n form an (F,I)-secure set, as does an *m*-cycle consisting of end vertices of the paths. If $m \ge 4$ and $n \ge 2$, taking the end vertex of a path and its neighbor in the path, in four consecutive paths, gives an (F,I)-secure set of eight vertices.

5) Suppose S is a minimum (F,I)-secure set and that $V(K_1) \notin S$. The subgraph G^S is connected. By the Main Theorem, it is then necessary that $1 = c(G^S) \ge |N(S) - S|$. So $S = V(P_n)$ and |S| = n. If $V(K_1) \subseteq S$, let $S' = V(P_n) \cap S$; then $|S'| \le n - 1$ (otherwise $S' = V(P_n)$ and $S = V(F_n)$). Every vertex in $V(P_n) - S'$ can attack $V(K_1)$ and there is at least one $u \in V(P_n) - S'$ such that u has a neighbor in S'. Define an attack by letting u send a half unit of attack to $V(K_1)$ and a half unit of attack to its neighbor in S'. Let every other vertex of $V(P_n) - S'$ attack $V(K_1)$ with its whole unit of attack. To be defended successfully, this attack requires $|S| = 1 + |S'| \ge |V(P_n) - S'| + 1 = n - |S'| + 1$. This implies that $|S'| \ge \lceil \frac{n}{2} \rceil$ and thus $|S| \ge 1 + \lceil \frac{n}{2} \rceil$. Next we construct an (F,I)-secure set S, such that $|S| = 1 + \lceil \frac{n}{2} \rceil$. Let S be the set containing $V(K_1)$ and the first $\lceil \frac{n}{2} \rceil$ vertices of $V(P_n)$. Only two vertices can be attacked: $V(K_1)$ and some $s \in V(P_n) \cap S$. Let s defend itself, and have all other vertices of S defend the $V(K_1)$. Since s has exactly one neighbor in $V(P_n) - S$, it has sufficient defense. Likewise, $V(K_1)$ has a total defense of $\lceil \frac{n}{2} \rceil$, and the attack there is at most $\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor$. This defense is successful against any attack on S.

6) The proof is similar to the proof of 5). If a set $S \subseteq V$ does not include the $V(K_1)$, then $V(K_1)$ can attack every vertex in the set S. In order for S to be (F,I)-secure, it can have no other attackers. So $S = V(C_n)$ and |S| = n. If an (F,I)-secure set $S \subseteq V$ includes $V(K_1)$, let $S' = S \cap V(C_n)$. If $|S'| \ge n - 1$, then $|S| \ge n$, and we already can find an (F,I)-secure set of size n. If $|S'| \le 1$, then $|S| \le 2$ and S is not (F,I)-secure by inspection. (In fact, for $n \ge 4$, S is not secure.) So let $2 \le |S'| \le n - 2$. The graph G^S is a connected bipartite graph. Since every vertex in $V(C_n) - S'$ is adjacent to $V(K_1)$, one part of the bipartition has size $|V(C_n) - S'| = n - |S'|$. The other part of the bipartition must have at least three vertices, because it is $V(K_1) \cup S'$. By the Bipartite Graph Lemma, in order for S to be (F,I)-secure, it is required that $|S| = 1 + |S'| \ge n - |S'| + 3 - 1$. Isolating |S'| yields $|S'| \ge \left\lfloor \frac{n+1}{2} \right\rfloor$.

An (F,I)-secure set of size $1 + \lceil \frac{n+1}{2} \rceil$ can be found by taking $V(K_1)$ and $\lceil \frac{n+1}{2} \rceil$ consecutive vertices of the $V(C_n)$. Exactly three vertices can be attacked, $V(K_1)$, and some $u, v \in S'$; u and v each have exactly one neighbor in $V(C_n) - S'$. Let u and v defend themselves, and have every other vertex of S defend $V(K_1)$. Then u and v clearly have sufficient defense, while $V(K_1)$ has a total defense of $\lceil \frac{n-1}{2} \rceil$ and at most the attack at $V(K_1)$ is $\lfloor \frac{n-1}{2} \rfloor$. So this defense is successful against any attack on S. \Box

3.3.1 Complete Multipartite Graphs

Next we find the (F,I)-security number of complete multipartite graphs. We begin with a corollary of the Bipartite Graph Lemma.

Corollary 2. Let G be a complete bipartite graph with bipartition (X, Y). If $S = X \cup Y_1$, where $|Y_1| = \lfloor \frac{|Y|}{2} \rfloor$ and $Y_1 \subseteq Y$, then S is (F,I)-secure.

Proof. Let A be an attack on S. Let $X_A = \{x \mid x \in X \text{ and } A^*(x) > 0\}$. By applying the Bipartite Graph Lemma to the subgraph induced by $X_A \cup (Y - S)$, the maximum total effective attack possible is then

$$|X_A| + |Y - S| - 1 = |X_A| + \left\lceil \frac{|Y|}{2} \right\rceil - 1.$$

Construct a defense D as follows. Let every vertex in X_A defend itself. This leaves $\left\lceil \frac{|Y|}{2} \right\rceil - 1$ effective attack remaining, but $|Y_1| = \left\lfloor \frac{|Y|}{2} \right\rfloor \ge \left\lceil \frac{|Y|}{2} \right\rceil - 1$. Since G is complete, the vertices of Y_1 can send their units of defense wherever they are necessary to finish constructing D. \Box

We will employ Corollary 2 in the following proof of Theorem 1, below. By inspection $s_{(F,I)}(K_{2,2}) = 2.$

Theorem 1. If $2 \le n_1 \le n_2$ and $n_2 \ne 2$, then $s_{(F,I)}(K_{n_1,n_2}) = n_1 + \lfloor \frac{n_2}{2} \rfloor$.

Proof. Let the bipartition of $G = K_{n_1,n_2}$ be (X,Y) where $|X| = n_1$ and $|Y| = n_2$, and let $S \subseteq X \cup Y$ be (F,I)-secure. First assume $S \cap Y = \emptyset$. Then $S \subseteq X, S \cup Y$ induces a complete bipartite graph, and there exists an attack on S by Y with a total effective attack of |Y| + |S| - 1. Since $|Y| \ge 2$ the value of this total effective attack is strictly greater than |S|, contradicting the assumption that S is (F,I)-secure. Thus we conclude that $S \cap Y \ne \emptyset$. By a similar argument it follows that $S \cap X \neq \emptyset$. An (F,I)-secure set $S \subseteq V(K_{n_1,n_2})$ must therefore contain vertices of both X and Y. So let $S \cap X \neq \emptyset$, $S \cap Y \neq \emptyset$, and let $x = |X \cap S|$ and $y = |Y \cap S|$, so that x + y = |S|. Also note that $x \ge 1$ and $y \ge 1$. There are four possible scenarios:

1)
$$x = |X|$$
 and $y = |Y|$. In this case S is (F,I)-secure because $S = V(K_{n_1,n_2})$.

2) $1 \leq x < |X|$ and $1 \leq y < |Y|$. $(X \cap S) \cup (Y - S)$ induces a complete bipartite graph, so there exists an attack from Y - S to $X \cap S$ with total effective attack $|Y - S| + |X \cap S| - 1 = n_2 - y + x - 1$. Likewise, $(Y \cap S) \cup (X - S)$ induces a complete bipartite graph, so there exists an attack from X - S to $Y \cap S$ with total effective attack $|X - S| + |Y \cap S| - 1 = n_1 - x + y - 1$. Since these two complete bipartite graphs are disjoint, there exists an attack from $V(K_{n_1,n_2}) - S$ to S with total effective attack $(n_2 - y + x - 1) + (n_1 - x + y - 1) = n_1 + n_2 - 2$. So $|S| \geq n_1 + n_2 - 2$. Taking $x = |X| - 1 = n_1 - 1$ and $y = |Y| - 1 = n_2 - 1$ provides an (F,I)-secure set of this size. The integer defense where each vertex of S defends itself is successful against any attack.

3) x = |X| and $1 \le y < |Y|$. Only vertices in X can be attacked. There is a complete bipartite graph induced by $X \cup (Y - S)$. So there is an attack of X by Y - S with total effective attack $|X| + |Y - S| - 1 = x + n_2 - y - 1 = n_1 + n_2 - y - 1$. In order for S to be (F,I)-secure, it is necessary that $|S| = x + y = n_1 + y \ge n_1 + n_2 - y - 1$. Thus $y \ge \left\lceil \frac{n_2 - 1}{2} \right\rceil = \left\lfloor \frac{n_2}{2} \right\rfloor$. So $|S| = x + y \ge n_1 + \left\lfloor \frac{n_2}{2} \right\rfloor$. On the other hand, any set S with all the vertices of X and $\left\lfloor \frac{n_2}{2} \right\rfloor$ vertices of Y is (F,I)-secure, by Corollary 2.

4) $1 \le x < |X|$ and y = |Y|. Similar to case 3), the smallest (F,I)-secure set in this case is of size $n_2 + \lfloor \frac{n_1}{2} \rfloor$.

So the $s_{(F,I)}(K_{n_1,n_2}) = \min\{n_1 + n_2, n_1 + n_2 - 2, n_1 + \lfloor \frac{n_2}{2} \rfloor, n_2 + \lfloor \frac{n_1}{2} \rfloor\}$. The minimum is $n_1 + \lfloor \frac{n_2}{2} \rfloor$ unless $n_1 = n_2 = 2$. So if $n_2 \neq 2$, $s_{(F,I)}(K_{n_1,n_2}) = n_1 + \lfloor \frac{n_2}{2} \rfloor$. \Box

Theorem 2. Let $k \ge 3$ and $1 \le n_1 \le n_2 \le \dots \le n_k$. Then $s_{(F,I)}(K_{n_1,n_2,\dots,n_k}) = n_1 + n_2 + \dots + n_{k-1} + \lfloor \frac{n_k}{2} \rfloor$.

Proof: Let $\{X_1, X_2, ..., X_k\}$ be the partition of $K_{n_1, n_2, ..., n_k}$ so that $|X_i| = n_i$ for $1 \le i \le k$. Let $V = V(K_{n_1, n_2, ..., n_k})$ and $\emptyset \ne S \subseteq V$. If $|\{i : (V - S) \cap X_i \ne \emptyset\}| \ge 2$, then the graph induced by the edges with one end in S and one end in V - S induces a connected bipartite graph with bipartition (S, V - S). So V - S can attack S with a total effective attack of $|V - S| + |S| - 1 \ge 2 + |S| - 1 = |S| + 1$. So S cannot be (F,I)-secure. Thus $V - S = \emptyset$ or $|\{i : (V - S) \cap X_i \ne \emptyset\}| = 1$. If $V - S = \emptyset$, then S = V. This is not a smallest (F,I)-secure set, because any set S with |S| = |V| - 1 is (F,I)-secure.

So we must have $|\{i: (V-S) \cap X_i \neq \emptyset\}| = 1$. Let X_α be such that $(V-S) \cap X_\alpha \neq \emptyset$ and $(V-S) \cap X_j = \emptyset$ for all $j \neq \alpha$. Let $x = |S \cap X_\alpha|$. Then $|V-S| = |(V-S) \cap X_\alpha| = n_\alpha - x$. There are no edges between $S \cap X_\alpha$ and V - S because both are contained in X_α . So the complete bipartite graph induced by the edges with one end in V - S and one end in S has bipartition $(S - X_\alpha, V - S)$. There is an attack from V - S to $S - X_\alpha$ with total effective attack $|V - S| + |S - X_\alpha| - 1 = n_\alpha - x + |S| - x - 1$. In order for S to be (F,I)-secure, it is necessary that $|S| \ge n_\alpha - 2x - 1 + |S|$ from which it follows $x \ge \left\lceil \frac{n_\alpha - 1}{2} \right\rceil = \left\lfloor \frac{n_\alpha}{2} \right\rfloor$. We can find an (F,I)-secure set of size $\sum_{j\neq\alpha} n_j + \lfloor \frac{n_\alpha}{2} \rfloor$ by choosing any $\lfloor \frac{n_\alpha}{2} \rfloor$ vertices of X_α along with $\cup_{j\neq\alpha}X_j$. This set S is (F,I)-secure by Corollary 2, because S is (F,I)-secure in the complete bipartite graph induced by edges with one end in X_α and one end in $V - X_\alpha$. The other edges in the multipartite graph do not allow for any new attack possibilities. Therefore,

$$s_{(\mathrm{F},\mathrm{I})}(K_{n_1,n_2,\ldots,n_k}) = \min_{1 \le i \le k} \left\{ \sum_{j \ne i} n_j + \left\lfloor \frac{n_i}{2} \right\rfloor \right\} = \sum_{j=1}^{k-1} n_j + \left\lfloor \frac{n_k}{2} \right\rfloor. \quad \Box$$

Chapter 4

Ultra-security

In this chapter, we will look only at integer attacks and integer defenses. Recall that an integer attack and an integer defense are equivalent to the definitions given by Brigham et al [3] and mentioned in the Introduction. In this chapter, we will use the notation of Brigham et al. That is, for a graph G = (V, E) and $S = \{s_1, ..., s_k\} \subseteq V$, an integer attack is a collection of pairwise disjoint sets $A = \{A_1, ..., A_k\}$ such that $A_i \subseteq N[s_i] - S$ for $1 \le i \le k$. An integer defense is a collection of pairwise disjoint sets $D = \{D_1, ..., D_k\}$ such that $D_i \subseteq N[s_i] \cap S$ for $1 \le i \le k$; an integer defense D of S such that $|D_i| \ge |A_i|$ for $1 \le i \le k$ is a successful integer defense of A.

For a graph G = (V, E), this chapter looks at a reversal of the usual situation. This course of inquiry was suggested by Dr. Chris Rodger. Usually we ask: For each integer attack on S, does their exist a successful integer defense of S? Now we will ask the following question: Is there one integer defense that will successfully defend against any integer attack? A set $S \subseteq V$ is *ultra-secure* if there exists an integer defense D of S, such that for any integer attack A on S, D is a successful integer defense of A. Note that if $S \subseteq V$ is ultra-secure, then S is secure.

4.1 A Necessary and Sufficient Condition

The following Hall-type theorem is used in the proof of the Theorem after it.

Theorem HRHV ([8, 14, 9]). Suppose $P_1, P_2, ..., P_n$ are sets and $k_1, k_2, ..., k_n$ are nonnegative integers. There exist pairwise disjoint sets $D_1, ..., D_n$ such that $D_i \subseteq P_i$ and $|D_i| = k_i$ for $1 \leq i \leq n$ if, and only if, for each $I \subseteq \{1, ..., n\}, |\bigcup_{i \in I} P_i| \geq \sum_{i \in I} k_i$.

Theorem HRHV is used in [10] to give an alternative proof of the necessary and sufficient condition for security due to Brigham et al [3]. Its use in the proof of the following Theorem is similar.

Theorem. A set $S \subseteq V$ is ultra-secure if and only if $|N[X] \cap S| \ge \sum_{x \in X} |N[x] - S|$ for all $X \subseteq S$.

Proof. Let $S = \{s_1, s_2, ..., s_k\}$ be ultra-secure, and $X \subseteq S$. Suppose that $D = \{D_1, ..., D_k\}$ is a successful integer defense of every integer attack on S. Let $I = \{i \mid 1 \leq i \leq k \text{ and } s_i \in X\}$. For each $i \in I$ there exists an integer attack A on S with $|A_i| = |N[s_i] - S|$. If S is ultra-secure, then $|D_i| \geq |N[s_i] - S|$ for all $i \in I$. Since $D_i \cap D_j = \emptyset$ for $i \neq j$ and $D_i \subseteq N[s_i] \cap S \subseteq N[X] \cap S$ for $i \in I$, it is necessary that $|N[X] \cap S| \geq \sum_{i \in I} |D_i| \geq \sum_{i \in I} |N[s_i] - S| = \sum_{x \in X} |N[x] - S|$. To show sufficiency, let $S = \{s_1, s_2, ..., s_n\} \subseteq V$ such that for all $X \subseteq S$, $|N[X] \cap S| \geq \sum_{x \in X} |N[x] - S|$. Let $k_i = |N[s_i] - S|$ and $P_i = N[s_i] \cap S$, $1 \leq i \leq n$. For $1 \leq i \leq n$, k_i represents the number of vertices that can attack s_i , and P_i is the set of potential defenders of s_i . For $I \subseteq \{1, 2, ...n\}$, letting $X = \{s_i | i \in I\}$, we have $\sum_{i \in I} k_i = \sum_{i \in I} |N[s_i] - S| = \sum_{x \in X} |N[x] - S| = \sum_{x \in X} |N[X] \cap S| = |\bigcup_{i \in I} P_i|$. By Theorem HRHV, for $1 \leq i \leq n$, there exist

pairwise disjoint $D_i \subseteq P_i$ such that $|D_i| = k_i$. For any integer attack $A = \{A_1, A_2, ..., A_n\}$ on S, $|A_i| \leq k_i$ for $1 \leq i \leq n$. It follows that $D = \{D_1, D_2, ..., D_n\}$ is a successful integer defense of any integer attack A on S. \Box

4.2 The Ultra-security Number

The security number s(G) of a graph G is the cardinality of a smallest secure set in G. Some results on the security number can be found in [3, 4, 6, 12]. Given a graph G,

the ultra-security number, denoted $s^u(G)$, is the cardinality of a smallest ultra-secure set in G. Note that for any graph G, $s(G) \leq s^u(G)$. Comments by Dr. Amin Bahmanian led to improvements in the statements of parts 1) and 2) in the following result.

Proposition. Let G = (V, E) be a graph.

1) $s^{u}(G) = 1$ if and only if $\delta(G) \leq 1$. 2) $s^{u}(G) = 2$ if and only if $\delta(G) = 2$ and there exits $uv \in E$ such that d(u) = d(v) = 2. 3) $s^{u}(K_{n}) = n - 1$, if $n \geq 2$. 4) $s^{u}(P_{n} \Box P_{m}) = \min\{m, n, 4\}$. 5) $s^{u}(K_{m,n}) = \min\{m + n - 2, m + \lceil \frac{m(n-1)}{m+1} \rceil\}, 2 \leq m \leq n$. 6) Let $k \geq 3$ and $1 \leq n_{1} \leq ... \leq n_{k}$. Let $n = \sum_{i=1}^{k} n_{i}$. Then $s^{u}(K_{n_{1},...,n_{k}}) = n - \lfloor \frac{n}{n-n_{k}+1} \rfloor$.

Proof. 1) A single vertex of degree zero or one is ultra-secure, but any vertex with degree greater than one is not.

2) For $s^u(G) > 1$, $\delta(G) \ge 2$ is required. Let $S \subseteq V$ with |S| = 2. If S contains two nonadjacent vertices, it is not ultra-secure. In order for a set $S = \{u, v\}$ with $uv \in E$ to be ultra-secure, $|N[u] - S| + |N[v] - S| \le 2$. Note that $|N[u] - S| \ge 1$ and $|N[v] - S| \ge 1$, so that |N[u] - S| = 1 and |N[v] - S| = 1 is required. Furthermore, $|N(u) \cap S| = |N(v) \cap S| = 1$ and thus d(u) = d(v) = 2 is necessary. If $S = \{u, v\}$, $uv \in E$, and d(u) = d(v) = 2, then the integer defense where u defends itself and v defends itself is successful against any integer attack.

3) Suppose that $S \subseteq V$ is ultra-secure and $1 \leq |S| \leq n-2$. Then for $x \in S$, $|N[x] - S| \geq 2$. It is necessary that $|N[S] \cap S| \geq \sum_{x \in S} |N[x] - S|$, but $|N[S] \cap S| = |S|$ and $\sum_{x \in S} |N[x] - S| \geq \sum_{x \in S} 2 = 2|S|$. So S is not ultra-secure. Any S with |S| = n-1 is ultra-secure; D is found by letting each vertex of S defend itself. 4) In [3] it is shown that $s(P_n \Box P_m) = \min\{m, n, 3\}$. First suppose that $\min\{m, n\} \leq 3$. Then we have $s^u(P_n \Box P_m) \geq s(P_n \Box P_m) = \min\{m, n, 3\} = \min\{m, n\}$. The *m* vertices of an end column, and the *n* vertices of an end row are ultra-secure, so $s^u(P_n \Box P_m) \leq \min\{m, n\}$, and thus $s^u(P_n \Box P_m) = \min\{m, n\}$. Now suppose that $\min\{m, n\} \geq 4$. Then $s^u(P_n \Box P_m) \geq s(P_n \Box P_m) = \min\{m, n, 3\} = 3$. Let *S* be a set consisting of a corner and its two neighbors. Then $\sum_{s \in S} |N[s] - S| = 4$, and |S| = 3. So three vertices of a corner do not form an ultra-secure set. Any other set *S* with |S| = 3 satisfies |S| < |N[X] - S| and is not secure, much less ultra-secure. Four vertices that induce a C_4 and contain a corner vertex form an ultra-secure set. Thus when $\min\{m, n\} \geq 4$, $s^u(P_n \Box P_m) = 4$. Combining the two cases we get the desired result: $s^u(P_n \Box P_m) = \min\{m, n, 4\}$.

5) Let (Y, Z) be the bipartition of $V(K_{m,n})$ such that |Y| = m and |Z| = n. Let $S \subseteq V(K_{m,n})$. For S to be ultra-secure, by the Theorem, it is necessary that $|S| \ge \sum_{x \in S} |N[x] - S|$. Clearly $|S| = |S \cap Y| + |S \cap Z|$. On the other hand,

$$\begin{split} \sum_{x \in S} |N[x] - S| &= \sum_{x \in S \cap Y} |N[x] - S| + \sum_{x \in S \cap Z} |N[x] - S \\ &= \sum_{x \in S \cap Y} |Z - S| + \sum_{x \in S \cap Z} |Y - S| \\ &= |S \cap Y| |Z - S| + |S \cap Z| |Y - S|. \end{split}$$

So in order to be ultra-secure, S must satisfy the inequality:

$$|S \cap Y| + |S \cap Z| \ge |S \cap Y||Z - S| + |S \cap Z||Y - S|.$$
(4.1)

If $S \subseteq Y$, then $|Z - S| = |Z| \ge 2$, because $2 \le m \le n$, and the inequality (4.1) fails. Likewise, if $S \subseteq Z$, the inequality (4.1) will fail. So for S to be ultra-secure, it is necessary that $S \cap Y \ne \emptyset$ and $S \cap Z \ne \emptyset$. We will consider three cases. First assume that $Y - S \neq \emptyset$ and $Z - S \neq \emptyset$. Inequality (4.1) implies $0 \ge (|Z - S| - 1)|S \cap Y| + (|Y - S| - 1)|S \cap Z|$. Since $|S \cap Y| \ge 1$ and $|S \cap Z| \ge 1$, we have $|Z - S| \le 1$ and $|Y - S| \le 1$. So if there are attackers in both parts of the bipartition, there may be at most one attacker from each part. Letting $|S \cap Y| = m - 1$ and $|S \cap Z| = n - 1$, S is ultra-secure and |S| = m + n - 2. The integer defense is given by letting each vertex of S defend itself.

For the second case, assume $Y - S = \emptyset$ and $Z - S \neq \emptyset$. In this case, the inequality (1) becomes $|Y| + |S \cap Z| \ge |Y||Z - S|$ which is equivalent to $m + |S \cap Z| \ge m(n - |S \cap Z|)$. Isolating $|S \cap Z|$ yields

$$|S \cap Z| \ge \left\lceil \frac{m(n-1)}{m+1} \right\rceil.$$

Let S contain all m vertices of Y and $\left\lceil \frac{m(n-1)}{m+1} \right\rceil$ vertices of Z. We will show this set satisfies the condition of the Theorem. For any $v \in Z \cap S$, |N[v] - S| = 0, so we can assume that $X \subseteq S \cap Y = Y$. For $X \subseteq Y$,

$$|N[X] \cap S| = |X| + \left\lceil \frac{m(n-1)}{m+1} \right\rceil \text{ and}$$
$$\sum_{x \in X} |N[x] - S| = |X| \left(n - \left\lceil \frac{m(n-1)}{m+1} \right\rceil \right)$$

So S is secure if and only if for all $X \subseteq Y$,

$$|X| + \left\lceil \frac{m(n-1)}{m+1} \right\rceil \ge |X| \left(n - \left\lceil \frac{m(n-1)}{m+1} \right\rceil\right)$$

This inequality reduces to

$$\left\lceil \frac{m(n-1)}{m+1} \right\rceil \ge \frac{|X|(n-1)}{|X|+1}.$$
(4.2)

Since $m = |Y| \ge |X|$ it follows that

$$\frac{m}{m+1} \ge \frac{|X|}{|X|+1}.$$

This shows that (2) holds and we have an ultra-secure set S with $|S| = m + \left\lceil \frac{m(n-1)}{m+1} \right\rceil$.

For the final case, assume $Y - S \neq \emptyset$ and $Z - S = \emptyset$. Following a similar argument to the second case, S must satisfy $|S| \ge n + \left\lceil \frac{n(m-1)}{n+1} \right\rceil$. Since $n \ge m$ it follows that $\frac{m-1}{n+1} < 1$ and thus

$$\left\lceil \frac{n}{n+1}(m-1) \right\rceil = \left\lceil (m-1) - \frac{m-1}{n+1} \right\rceil = m-1.$$

So in this case, a minimum ultra-secure set S has $|S| \ge n + m - 1$.

Thus $s^{u}(K_{m,n}) = \min\{m+n-2, m+\lceil \frac{m}{m+1}(n-1) \rceil\}$. For $2 \le m \le n$,

$$m + n - 2 \le m + \left\lceil \frac{m}{m+1}(n-1) \right\rceil$$

$$\Leftrightarrow n - 2 \le \left\lceil (n-1) - \frac{n-1}{m+1} \right\rceil$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \frac{n-1}{m+1} < 2$$

$$\Leftrightarrow n \le 2m+2.$$

So we have, for $2 \le m \le n$,

$$s^{u}(K_{m,n}) = \begin{cases} m+n-2 & \text{if } n \leq 2m+2\\ m+\left\lceil \frac{m(n-1)}{m+1} \right\rceil & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

as an alternative statement for $s^u(K_{m,n})$. Comparing the two expressions in the reverse order gives $m + \left\lceil \frac{m(n-1)}{m+1} \right\rceil \le m+n-2$ if $m+2 \le n$. So we have $m+n-2 = m + \left\lceil \frac{m(n-1)}{m+1} \right\rceil$ if and only if $m+2 \le n \le 2m+2$.

6)Let $X_1, ..., X_k$ be the partition of $K_{n_1,...,n_k}$, so that $|X_i| = n_i$ for $1 \le i \le k$. Let $V = V(K_{n_1,...,n_k})$ and let $\emptyset \ne S \subseteq V$. If $|\{i|X_i \cap (V-S) \ne \emptyset\}| \ge 2$, then it is easy to see that $|N[x] - S| \ge 1$ for all $x \in S$. Further, because $k \ge 3$, it follows that $|N[y] - S| \ge 2$ for some $y \in S$. Then $|S| < \sum_{x \in S} |N[x] - S|$ and S is not ultra-secure.

Now suppose that S is ultra-secure and $|\{i|X_i \cap (V-S) \neq \emptyset\}| = 0$. Then S = V, but this is not a minimum ultra-secure set, because any set of n-1 vertices is ultra-secure. So let $\begin{aligned} |\{i|X_i \cap (V-S) \neq \emptyset\}| &= 1. \text{ Let } \alpha \in \{1, ..., n\} \text{ such that } X_\alpha \cap (V-S) \neq \emptyset. \text{ Let } r = |S \cap X_\alpha|. \end{aligned}$ In order for S to be ultra-secure, we must have $n - n_\alpha + r = |S| \ge \sum_{x \in S} |N[x] - S| = \sum_{x \in (S-X_\alpha)} (n_\alpha - r) = (n - n_\alpha)(n_\alpha - r). \text{ Solving for } r \text{ yields } r \ge \left\lceil n_\alpha - \frac{n}{n - n_\alpha + 1} \right\rceil. \text{ Thus } |S| = n - n_\alpha + r \ge n - n_\alpha + \left\lceil n_\alpha - \frac{n}{n - n_\alpha + 1} \right\rceil = n - \left\lfloor \frac{n}{n - n_\alpha + 1} \right\rfloor. We will find an ultra-secure set with min \{n - \left\lfloor \frac{n}{n - n_i + 1} \right\rfloor |1 \le i \le k\} = n - \left\lfloor \frac{n}{n - n_k + 1} \right\rfloor \text{ vertices.} \end{aligned}$

Let S be the set consisting of the vertices $V - X_k$ and $\left[n_k - \frac{n}{n - n_k + 1}\right]$ of X_k . If $n_k \leq \left\lceil \frac{n}{2} \right\rceil$, then $n - \left\lfloor \frac{n}{n - n_k + 1} \right\rfloor = n - 1$, and S is ultra-secure. If $n_k \geq \left\lceil \frac{n}{2} \right\rceil + 1$, then consider the complete bipartite graph induced by the edges with one end in X_k and the other end in $V - X_k$. One part of the bipartition has size $n - n_k$, and the other part has size n_k . In the proof of 5), it was shown that a set consisting of all m vertices of the smaller part and $\left\lceil \frac{m(p-1)}{m+1} \right\rceil$ of the larger part forms an ultra-secure set. The set S does contain all $n - n_k$ vertices of $V - X_k$, and $\left\lceil n_k - \frac{n}{n - n_k + 1} \right\rceil = \left\lceil \frac{(n - n_k)(n_k - 1)}{n - n_k + 1} \right\rceil$ vertices of X_k . So S is ultra-secure in the complete bipartite graph. Thus S is also ultra-secure in the complete multipartite graph, because the additional edges offer no new attack possibilities. \Box

Chapter 5

Relationships Between Security, (F,I)-security, and Ultra-security

At this point, we have seen that for a graph G, $s(G) \leq s_{(F,I)}(G)$ and $s(G) \leq s^u(G)$. In this chapter, we explore further relationships between these three types of security.

5.1 Ultra-security Implies (F,I)-security

Let G = (V, E) be a finite, simple graph. Let $S \subseteq V$. We compare (F,I)-security to ultra-security. An equivalent formulation of ultra-security requires each vertex of N(S) - Sto send one unit of attack along each edge it has into S. Note that in ultra-security the attacks are integer attacks, and the defenses are integer defenses.

Lemma 1. Let G=(V,E) be a graph, and $S \subseteq V$. Then $S \subseteq V$ is ultra-secure if and only if there exists an integer defense D such that for all $v \in S$, $D^*(v) \ge |N[v] - S|$.

Proof. Suppose D is an integer defense such that for all $v \in S$, $D^*(v) \ge |N[v] - S|$. In any attack A, $A^*(v) \le |N[v] - S|$ and so for all $v \in V$, $A^*(v) \le |N[v] - S| \le D^*(v)$. Thus D is successful against A and S is ultra-secure.

If S is ultra-secure, then there exists a defense D that is a successful defense of any attack on S. For each $v \in S$, there exists an attack such that $A^*(v) = |N[v] - S|$. Since D is a successful defense of all attacks, $D^*(v) \ge |N[v] - S|$. \Box

Proposition 1. Let G = (V, E) be a graph and $S \subseteq V$. If S is ultra-secure, then S is (F,I)-secure.

Proof. Let $S \subseteq V$ be an ultra-secure set, and A a (fractional) attack on S. Note that for $u \in N(S) - S$ and $v \in S$, $A(u, v) \leq 1$. So then $A^*(v) = \sum_{u \in N[v]-S} A(u, v) \leq \sum_{u \in N[v]-S} 1 = |N[v] - S|$. Due to Lemma 1, because S is ultra-secure, there is an integer defense D such that for all $v \in S$, $D^*(v) \geq |N[v] - S| \geq A^*(v)$, and thus S is also (F, I)-secure. \Box

Note that this shows $s_{(F,I)}(G) \leq s^u(G)$. In the proofs of the values of $s_{(F,I)}(F_n)$, $s_{(F,I)}(W_n)$, and $s_{(F,I)}(C_m \Box P_n)$ in Chapter 3.3, it is easy to see that the minimum (F,I)-secure sets constructed are also ultra-secure.

Proposition 2.

1) $s^{u}(F_{n}) = 1 + \left\lceil \frac{n}{2} \right\rceil, n \ge 2.$ 2) $s^{u}(W_{n}) = 1 + \left\lceil \frac{n+1}{2} \right\rceil, n \ge 3.$ 3) $\min\{m, 2n, 6\} \le s^{u}(C_{m} \Box P_{n}) \le \min\{m, 2n, 8\}.$

Now we look at one condition which will guarantee an (F,I)-secure set is also ultrasecure. Recall that given a graph G = (V, E) and $X \subseteq S \subseteq V$, we define G^X to be the subgraph of G whose vertex set is $X \cup (N[X] - S)$ and whose edge set is the set of all edges with one end in X and one end in N[X] - S.

Proposition 3. If $S \subseteq V$ is (F,I)-secure and G^S is a forest, then S is ultra-secure.

Proof. If G^S is a forest, then for $X \subseteq S$, G^X is a forest because $E(G^X) \subseteq E(G^S)$. Since G^X is a forest $|E(G^X)| = |V(G^X)| - c(G^X) = |X| + |N_G[X] - S| - c(G^X)$. On the other hand, recalling G^X is bipartite with bipartition $(X, N_G[X] - S), |E(G^X)| = \sum_{x \in X} |N_G[x] - S|$. Since S is (F,I)-secure, we have, for all $X \subseteq S, |N_G[X] \cap S| \ge |X| + |N_G[X] - S| - c(G^X) = |E(G^X)| = \sum_{x \in X} |N_G[x] - S|$. So S is also ultra-secure. \Box

5.2 Relating Security, (F,I)-security, and Ultra-security

Let G = (V, E) be a graph. By Proposition 1, we now have $s(G) \leq s_{(F,I)}(G) \leq s^u(G)$. Below are the necessary and sufficient conditions for the three kinds of security:

S is secure \Leftrightarrow for all $X \subseteq S, |N[X] \cap S| \ge |N[X] - S|;$

$$S \text{ is } (F,I)\text{-secure} \Leftrightarrow \text{ for all } X \subseteq S, |N[X] \cap S| \ge |X| + |N[X] - S| - c(G^X);$$

$$S \text{ is ultra-secure} \Leftrightarrow \text{ for all } X \subseteq S, |N[X] \cap S| \ge \sum_{x \in X} |N[x] - S|.$$

Note that for any $X \subseteq S$, $|N[X] - S| \leq \sum_{x \in X} |N[x] - S|$. If $S \subseteq V$ is secure and for all $X \subseteq S$, $|N[X] - S| = \sum_{x \in X} |N[x] - S|$, then S is also ultra-secure, and therefore (F,I)-secure. Also note that $|N[X] - S| = \sum_{x \in X} |N[x] - S|$ for all $X \subseteq S$ if, and only if, for each pair $s_1, s_2 \in S, s_1 \neq s_2, N(s_1) \cap N(s_2) - S = \emptyset$; that is, any two vertices of S have no common neighbor outside of S. So potential attackers do not have any choice as to where they can send their attack.

Proposition 4. Let G = (V, E) be a graph and $S \subseteq V$ be secure. If for distinct $s_1, s_2 \in S$, $N(s_1) \cap N(s_2) - S = \emptyset$, then S is (F,I)-secure and ultra-secure.

Corollary. Let G = (V, E) be a graph. If there exists a minimum secure set $S \subseteq V$ such that for distinct $s_1, s_2 \in S$, $N(s_1) \cap N(s_2) - S = \emptyset$, then $s(G) = s_{(F,I)}(G) = s^u(G)$.

However; there are infinitely many graphs where the condition in Proposition 4 fails for every minimum secure set, and yet $s(G) = s_{(F,I)}(G) = s^u(G)$ still holds. The smallest example is K_3 .

Because $s(K_n) = \lceil \frac{n}{2} \rceil$, $s_{(F,I)}(K_n) = n - 1$, and $s^u(K_n) = n - 1$, we see it is possible to have a graph G where $s(G) < s_{(F,I)}(G) = s^u(G)$. Likewise, when $n \ge 5$, $s(K_{n,n}) = n$, $s_{(F,I)}(K_{n,n}) = n + \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor$, and $s^u(K_{n,n}) = 2n - 2$, so $K_{n,n}$ is an example of a graph G such that

$$s(G) < s_{(\mathrm{F},\mathrm{I})}(G) < s^u(G).$$

Example. We will show the graph G in Figure 5.1 satisfies $s(G) = s_{(F,I)}(G) = 3$ and $s^u(G) = 4$. There is no vertex of degree one, and no subset of size two is secure, so $s(G) \ge 3$. The subset $\{a, b, f\}$ is a secure set. Applying the Main Theorem of Chapter 3 shows that $\{a, b, f\}$ is also (F,I)-secure. No subset of size three is ultra-secure: there are 14 subsets of size three that induce a connected subgraph in G, and each fails the necessary and sufficient condition for ultra-security. The set $\{b, c, e, f\}$ is ultra secure. The defense where each vertex defends itself is a successful defense against any attack.



Figure 5.1: A graph G such that $s(G) = s_{(F,I)}(G) < s^u(G)$.

5.2.1 An Infinite Family of Graphs

So far, we have seen examples of graphs G such that $s(G) = s_{(F,I)}(G) = s^u(G) \in \{1,2\}$.

Proposition 5. For each positive integer n, there exists a graph G such that $s(G) = s_{(F,I)}(G) = s^u(G) = n$.

Proof. Clearly $s(P_n) = s_{(F,I)}(P_n) = s^u(P_n) = 1$ and $s(C_n) = s_{(F,I)}(C_n) = s^u(C_n) = 2$. For n = 3, the graph G = (V, E) in Figure 5.2 satisfies $s(G) = s_{(F,I)}(G) = s^u(G) = 3$. The set

 $S = \{s_1, s_2, s_3\}$ is an ultra-secure set of order three, and no secure set of order one or two exists.



Figure 5.2: A graph such that $s(G) = s_{(F,I)}(G) = s^u(G) = 3$.

For $n \geq 4$, we generalize the graph in the figure. Let G = (V, E) be such that |V| = 3n+1. Let the vertices of the graph be $\{s_1, ..., s_n\} \cup \{v_1, ..., v_{2n+1}\}$. Let $E = \{s_i s_{i+1} | 1 \leq i \leq n-1\} \cup \{v_j v_k | j \neq k\} \cup \{v_i s_i | 1 \leq i \leq n-1\} \cup \{v_1 s_n\}$. Then $\{v_1, ..., v_{2n+1}\}$ induces a K_{2n+1} and $\{s_1, ..., s_n\}$ induces a P_n . Letting each s_i defend itself shows that $\{s_1, ..., s_n\}$ is ultra-secure with size n. So we have $s(G) \leq s_{(F,I)}(G) \leq s^u(G) \leq n$. We will now show $s(G) \geq n$, and the result follows. Let $S \subseteq V$ be secure. If $v_j \in S$ for some j then $|S| \geq n+1$, because $|N[v_j] \cap S| \geq |N[v_j] - S|$ and $|N[v_j]| \geq 2n+1$. So we can find no smaller secure set containing any v_j . So if there is a smaller secure set, it has to be a subset of $\{s_1, ..., s_n\}$. A minimum secure set is connected [3], meaning the subgraph induced by the minimum secure set is connected [3], meaning the subgraph induced by the minimum secure set is connected [3], meaning the subgraph induced by the minimum secure set is connected $\{s_1, ..., s_n\} = |T|$ and $|(N[T] - T) \cap \{s_1, ..., s_n\}| \geq 1$, so that $|T| < |T| + 1 \leq |N[T] - T|$, and T is not secure.

Note that in the proof above, the vertices of $V - \{s_1, ..., s_n\}$ do not have to induce a K_{2n+1} . If |V| > 3n + 1, so that $|V - \{s_1, ..., s_n\}| > 2n + 1$, it is sufficient for the vertices of $V - \{s_1, ..., s_n\}$ to induce any graph H with $\delta(H) \ge 2n$.

Chapter 6

On the Security Number of Regular Bipartite Graphs

6.1 *d*-regular Bipartite Graphs with s(G) = d

It has been shown that for a graph G, $s(G) \geq \left\lceil \frac{\delta+1}{2} \right\rceil$ [6]. If G is d-regular, then $s(G) \geq \left\lceil \frac{d+1}{2} \right\rceil$. The complete graph K_n , achieves this bound, as it is regular of degree n-1 and $s(K_n) = \left\lceil \frac{n}{2} \right\rceil$. When $n \geq 4$, $\left\lceil \frac{n}{2} \right\rceil < n-1$. So if G is a d-regular graph, it is possible that s(G) < d. If we require G to be bipartite, in addition to being regular, then the security number cannot be less than the degree.

Proposition 1. Suppose G = (V, E) is a regular bipartite graph with degree d. Then $s(G) \ge d$.

Proof. If d = 0 or d = 1, s(G) = 1. Let $d \ge 2$. Then $s(G) \ge 2$ and a secure set S must contain vertices u, v such that $uv \in E$. The vertices u and v must be in different parts of the bipartition, and thus $|N[\{u, v\}]| = 2d$. If S is secure, then by Theorem BDH $|N[\{u, v\}]| = 2d = |N[\{u, v\}] - S| + |N[\{u, v\}] \cap S| \le 2|N[\{u, v\}] \cap S|$, so $|N[\{u, v\}] \cap S| \ge d$. Thus we have $|S| \ge |N[\{u, v\}] \cap S| \ge d$. \Box

We now characterize the structure of d-regular, bipartite graphs with s(G) = d.

Theorem 1. Suppose G = (V, E) is a regular, bipartite graph with degree $d \ge 2$ and s(G) = d. Let S be a secure set with |S| = d. Then we can label the bipartition (Y, Z) in such a way that $S = A \cup B$, $A \subseteq Y$, $B \subseteq Z$, $|A| = \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$, and $|B| = \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$. Furthermore, for $u, v \in A$, $B \subseteq N(u) = N(v)$, and for $w, z \in B$, $A \subseteq N(w) = N(z)$. Conversely, if G has a bipartition (Y, Z) with $A \subseteq Y$ and $B \subseteq Z$ satisfying the preceding conditions, then

 $S = A \cup B$ is a secure set in G with |S| = d.

Proof. Name the bipartition (Y, Z) in such a way that $|S \cap Y| \ge |S \cap Z|$. Let $A = S \cap Y$ and $B = S \cap Z$. Suppose $|A| \ge \left\lceil \frac{d}{2} \right\rceil + 1$. Then $|B| \le \left\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \right\rfloor - 1$. Let $u \in A$. Then $|N(u) - S| = d - |N(u) \cap B| \ge d - \left(\left\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \right\rfloor - 1\right) = \left\lceil \frac{d}{2} \right\rceil + 1 > \left\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \right\rfloor \ge |N[u] \cap S|, \text{ which contradicts}$ S being secure. Therefore $|A| \leq \left\lceil \frac{d}{2} \right\rceil$. Since $|A| \geq |B|$ we must have $|A| = \left\lceil \frac{d}{2} \right\rceil$, and thus $|B| = \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$. Now $d = |S| \ge |N[S] - S|$. For $u \in A$, $|N(u) - S| \ge d - |B| = \lceil \frac{d}{2} \rceil$. Likewise, for $w \in B$, $|N(w) - S| \ge d - |A| = \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$. Since $(N(u) - S) \cap (N(w) - S) = \emptyset$, we have $|N[S] - S| \ge |N(u) - S| + |N(w) - S| \ge d$. So we must have |N[S] - S| = d, which means that $|N(u) - S| = \left\lceil \frac{d}{2} \right\rceil, |N(v) - S| = \left\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \right\rfloor, N[S] - S = (N(u) \cup N(w)) - S, N(u) \cap S = B$, and $N(w) \cap S = A$. So for any $v \in A$, $v \neq u$, $N(v) - S \subseteq N(u) - S$, and $N(v) \cap S \subseteq B$. Since N(u) = d and |N(u) - S| + |B| = d, we must have N(v) = N(u). Similarly, for any $z \in B$, $z \neq w$, we have N(z) = N(w). Now suppose that G has a bipartition (Y, Z) with $A \subseteq Y$ and $B \subseteq Z$ satisfying the preceding properties. By Theorem BDH, $S = A \cup B$ is secure in G if for all $X \subseteq S$, $|N[X] \cap S| \ge |N[X] - S|$. We examine three cases. First, if $\emptyset \ne X \subseteq A$, then $|N[X] \cap S| = |X| + |B| = |X| + \left\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \right\rfloor \ge \left\lceil \frac{d}{2} \right\rceil = |N[A] - S| \ge |N[X] - S|$. If $\emptyset \neq X \subseteq B$, then $|N[X] \cap S| = |X| + |A| = |X| + \left\lceil \frac{d}{2} \right\rceil > \left\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \right\rfloor = |N[B] - S| \ge |N[X] - S|$. Lastly, if $X \cap A \neq \emptyset$ and $X \cap B \neq \emptyset$, then $|N[X] \cap S| = |A| + |B| = d = |N[S] - S| \ge |N[X] - S|$. So $S = A \cup B$ is secure and |S| = d.

Figure 6.1, below, uses the notation of Theorem 1. In the case G is 4-regular and bipartite, Figure 6.1 shows the subgraph of G induced by the set of edges with at least one end in the secure set $S = A \cup B$.

For any regular, bipartite graph the number of vertices in one part of the bipartition must equal the number of vertices in the other part. So the total number of vertices must be even. The *d*-regular, bipartite graph with the fewest vertices is $K_{d,d}$, and $s(K_{d,d}) = d$.



Figure 6.1: $S = A \cup B$ is secure in a 4-regular, bipartite graph.

Lemma 1. There does not exist a d-regular, bipartite graph G = (V, E) such that s(G) = dand 2d < |V| < 3d.

Proof. We proceed by contradiction. Suppose that G = (V, E) is a *d*-regular, bipartite graph such that s(G) = d and 2d < |V| < 3d. We can label the bipartition (Y, Z) in such a way that there is a secure set $S = A \cup B$ as in Theorem 1. Letting A' = N(B) - A and B' = N(A) - B, it follows that $|A \cup A'| = |B \cup B'| = d$. Since d < |Z| there exists $v \in Z - (B \cup B')$ such that |N(v)| = d and $N(v) \subseteq Y - A$. Since $|Y| < \frac{3d}{2}$ and $|A| = \lceil \frac{d}{2} \rceil$, it follows that $|N(v)| \leq |Y - A| < \frac{3d}{2} - \lceil \frac{d}{2} \rceil \leq d$, contradicting |N(v)| = d. \Box

Lemma 2. If d > 0 is even, there exists a d-regular, bipartite graph G = (V, E) such that s(G) = d and |V| = 3d. If d is odd, there exists a d-regular, bipartite graph G = (V, E) such that s(G) = d and |V| = 3d + 1.

Proof. First suppose that d is even. Let V be a set such that |V| = 3d. Partition the V into two sets, Y and Z such that $|Y| = |Z| = \frac{3d}{2}$. Partition vertices of Y into three sets A, A', A'' such that $|A| = |A'| = |A''| = \frac{d}{2}$. Partition the vertices of Z into three sets B, B', B'' such

that $|B| = |B'| = |B''| = \frac{d}{2}$. Define the edge set

$$E = \{uv \mid u \in A, v \in B \cup B'\} \cup \{uv \mid u \in A', v \in B \cup B''\} \cup \{uv \mid u \in A'', v \in B' \cup B''\}.$$

Letting G = (V, E) and $S = A \cup B$, S satisfies the conditions of Theorem 1 and is secure in G.

Now suppose that d is odd. Let V be a set such that |V| = 3d + 1. Partition the V into two sets, Y and Z such that $|Y| = |Z| = \frac{3d+1}{2}$. Partition the vertices of Y into three sets A, A', A'' such that $|A| = |A''| = \frac{d+1}{2}$ and $|A'| = \frac{d-1}{2}$. Partition the vertices of Z into three sets B, B', B'' such that $|B| = \frac{d-1}{2}$ and $|B'| = |B''| = \frac{d+1}{2}$. Let $r = \frac{d+1}{2}$, $A'' = \{a_1, ..., a_r\}$ and $B' = \{b_1, ..., b_r\}$. Let $F = \{a_i b_i | 1 \le i \le r\}$. Define the edge set $E = (\{uv | u \in A, v \in B \cup B'\} \cup \{uv | u \in A', v \in B \cup B''\} \cup \{uv | u \in A'', v \in B \cup B''\} \cup \{uv | u \in A'', v \in B \cup B''\} \cup \{uv | u \in A'', v \in B' \cup B''\}) - F$. Letting G = (V, E) and $S = A \cup B$, S satisfies the conditions of Theorem 1 and is secure in G. \Box

Theorem 2. There exists a d-regular, bipartite graph G = (V, E) such that s(G) = d, if and only if |V| = 2d, or $|V| \ge 3d$ and |V| is even.

Proof. Let G = (V, E) be a *d*-regular, bipartite graph such that s(G) = d. The discussion preceding Lemma 1 shows that |V| must be even and that $K_{d,d}$ satisfies s(G) = d and |V| = 2d. So if G is not isomorphic to $K_{d,d}$, then, by Lemma 1, $|V| \ge 3d$. We proceed by induction, Lemma 2 providing the base when d is even or d is odd.

Let $|V| \ge 3d + 2$ and |V| even. Let H = (U, F) be a *d*-regular, bipartite graph with |U| = |V| - 2 satisfying s(H) = d. As in Theorem 1, we can write the bipartition of H as (Y, Z) and find a secure set $S = A \cup B$. Construct the graph G = (V, E) as follows. Add a vertex u to Y and a vertex v to Z. We now find a set of d independent edges in H, using Hall's Theorem.

Case 1: d is even. Let $Y' = (V(H) - S) \cap Y$ and $Z' = (V(H) - S) \cap Z$. Since $|U| = |V| - 2 \ge 3d$, we have $|Y| = |Z| \ge \frac{3d}{2}$ so that $|Y'| = |Z'| = |Y| - \frac{d}{2} \ge d$. Also, Y' has $\frac{d}{2}$ vertices of degree $\frac{d}{2}$ in H - S, and every other vertex has degree d. Let $\mathcal{D} \subseteq Y'$ such that $|\mathcal{D}| = d$. Examine the graph Γ induced by $\mathcal{D} \cup Z'$. Let $X \subseteq \mathcal{D}$. If X has a vertex of degree d, then $|X| \le d \le N_{\Gamma}(X)$. If X does not have a vertex of degree d, then each vertex in Xhas degree $\frac{d}{2}$, and $|X| \le \frac{d}{2} \le N_{\Gamma}(X)$. So by Hall's Theorem, there must be a matching in Γ that saturates \mathcal{D} . Let M be this set of d independent edges, which are also independent in H - S and H.

Case 2: d is odd. Let $Y' = (V(H) - S) \cap Y$ and $Z' = (V(H) - S) \cap Z$. Since $|U| = |V| - 2 \ge 3d + 1$, we have $|Y| = |Z| \ge \frac{3d+1}{2}$, so that $|Y'| = |Y| - |Y \cap S| \ge \frac{3d+1}{2} - \frac{d+1}{2} = d$ and $|Z'| = |Z| - |Z \cap S| \ge \frac{3d+1}{2} - \frac{d-1}{2} = d + 1$. In H - S, Y' has $\frac{d-1}{2}$ vertices of degree $\frac{d+1}{2}$, and every other vertex of Y' has degree d. Let $\mathcal{D} \subseteq Y'$ such that $|\mathcal{D}| = d$. Examine the graph Γ induced by $\mathcal{D} \cup Z'$. Let $X \subseteq \mathcal{D}$. If X has a vertex of degree d, then $|X| \le d \le N_{\Gamma}(X)$. If X does not have a vertex of degree d, then each vertex in X has degree $\frac{d+1}{2}$, and $|X| \le \frac{d-1}{2} < \frac{d+1}{2} \le N_{\Gamma}(X)$. So by Hall's Theorem, there must be a matching in Γ that saturates \mathcal{D} . Let M be this set of d independent edges, which are also independent in H - S and H.

Next we decribe how to obtain the edge set E from F. For each $w_1w_2 \in M$, $w_1 \in Y - S$ and $w_2 \in Z - S$, delete w_1w_2 from F, and replace it by two edges: w_1v and w_2u . Thus the degree of every vertex of $(Y - S) \cup (Z - S)$ is not changed, and the degree of u and of vis d. Then G = (V, E) is a d-regular, bipartite graph on |V| vertices. But the neighbors of vertices in S in G are the same as in H, so S is secure in G = (V, E). \Box

Proposition 2. Let G = (V, E) be a d-regular, bipartite graph such that s(G) = d. If $|V| \in \{2d, 3d, 3d + 1\}$ then the graph G is unique up to isomorphism.

Proof. Let S be a secure set in G = (V, E) of order d. By Theorem 1, we can lable the bipartition of G(Y, Z) so that there is a secure set $S = A \cup B$ where A and B have the properties listed. Let A' = N(B) - A and B' = N(A) - B. Note that $|A'| = \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ and $|B'| = \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$.

Suppose |V| = 2d. In this case, $Y = A \cup A'$, $Z = B \cup B'$, |Y| = d, and |Z| = d. Since every vertex has degree d, the graph must be isomorphic to $K_{d,d}$.

Now suppose that |V| = 3d. In this case, d must be even. Let $A'' = Y - (A \cup A')$ and $B'' = Z - (B \cup B')$. Note that $|A| = |A'| = |A''| = |B| = |B'| = |B''| = \frac{d}{2}$. Let $F = \{uv | u \in A, v \in B \cup B'\} \cup \{uv | u \in B, v \in A'\}$. By Theorem 1, $F \subseteq E$. Note that every vertex of $A \cup B$ is incident with d edges of F. So no vertex in A is adjacent to a vertex in B'', and no vertex in B is adjacent to a vertex in A''. In order for each vertex of A'' to have degree d, it must be adjacent to every vertex in $B' \cup B''$. Likewise, every vertex of B'' must be adjacent to every vertex of $A' \cup A''$. This forces $E = \{uv | u \in A, v \in B \cup B'\} \cup \{uv | u \in$ $A', v \in B \cup B''\} \cup \{uv | u \in A'', v \in B' \cup B''\}$.

Lastly, suppose |V| = 3d + 1. In this case, d must be odd. Again, let $A'' = Y - (A \cup A')$ and $B'' = Z - (B \cup B')$. Note that $|A| = |A''| = |B'| = |B''| = \frac{d+1}{2}$ and $|B| = |A'| = \frac{d-1}{2}$. Let $F_1 = \{uv \mid u \in A, v \in B \cup B'\} \cup \{uv \mid u \in B, v \in A'\}$. By Theorem 1, $F_1 \subseteq E$. Every vertex of $A \cup B$ is incident with d edges in F_1 . So no vertex of B'' is adjacent to any vertex of A. Likewise, no vertex of A'' is adjacent to any vertex of B. In order to have degree d, every vertex of B'' must be adjacent to every vertex of $A' \cup A''$. It remains to describe the edges between vertices of A'' and vertices of B'. Since G contains no edges between vertices of A'and vertices of B', and every vertex of A'' is adjacent to every vertex of B'', the subgraph Hof G induced by $A'' \cup B'$ is regular of degree $\frac{d-1}{2}$. Since H is bipartite it is therefore obtained from $K_{\frac{d+1}{2}, \frac{d+1}{2}}$ by removing a perfect matching. Clearly the different versions of G obtained by removing different perfect matchings in H are isomorphic. \Box

6.2 On the Security Number of Q_n

The *n*-cube, denoted Q_n , can be defined inductively. Let $Q_0 \cong K_1$; then $Q_n \cong Q_{n-1} \Box K_2$. Note that $|V(Q_n)| = 2^n$ and $|E(Q_n)| = n2^{n-1}$. Also note that Q_n is an *n*-regular bipartite graph. By examination, $s(Q_0) = s(Q_1) = 1$, and $s(Q_2) = 2$. If the number of vertices of a subgraph of Q_n is known, Graham's Density Lemma gives an upper bound on the number of edges that subgraph may contain. It is used in the proofs of the results after it.

Graham's Density Lemma ([7, 2]). Let G be a subgraph of Q_n . Then $|E(G)| \leq \frac{1}{2}|V(G)|\log_2|V(G)|$, with equality if and only if G is isomorphic to Q_m , for some $m \in \{0, 1, ..., n\}$.

Proposition 3. For $n \ge 1$, $s^u(Q_n) = 2^{n-1}$, and the only minimum ultra-secure sets of vertices induce subgraphs isomorphic to Q_{n-1} .

Proof. Let $S \subseteq V(Q_n)$ be ultra-secure. Since Q_n is *n*-regular, the sum of the degrees of the vertices of S is n|S|. Applying the Theorem of Chapter 4.1 for ultra-security with X = S, we have $|S| \ge \sum_{x \in S} |N[x] - S|$. In other words, the number of edges with one end in S and one end in N[S] - S can be at most |S|. Let G be the subgraph of Q_n induced by S. Then $\sum_{v \in S} d_G(v) \ge n|S| - |S|$, and thus $|E(G)| \ge \frac{1}{2}|S|(n-1)$. By Graham's Lemma, $\frac{1}{2}|S|(n-1) \le \frac{1}{2}|S|\log_2|S|$, and so $2^{n-1} \le |S|$. If $|S| = 2^{n-1}$, then $|E(G)| = 2^{n-2}(n-1)$ and we have equality in Graham's Density Lemma. Thus G is isomorphic to Q_{n-1} . Then for $x \in S$, |N[x] - S| = 1. Letting each vertex of S defend itself, we see that S is ultra-secure. Therefore, $s^u(G) = 2^{n-1}$ and any minimum ultra-secure set of Q_n must induce a subgraph isomorphic to Q_{n-1} . \Box

Proposition 4. For $n \ge 1$, $2^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor} \le s(Q_n)$.

Proof. Let $S \subseteq V(Q_n)$ be secure. Let G be the subgraph of Q_n induced by S. Then for each $v \in S$, $1 + d_G(v) = |N[v] \cap S| \ge \frac{1}{2}|N[v]| = \frac{1}{2}(n+1)$. Thus $d_G(v) \ge \left\lceil \frac{n-1}{2} \right\rceil = \left\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \right\rfloor$. So G must have at least $\frac{1}{2}|S| \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor$ edges. Applying Graham's Lemma, $\frac{1}{2}|S| \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor \le \frac{1}{2}|S| \log_2 |S|$, which yields $2^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor} \le |S|$. \Box

Corollary. For $n \ge 1$, $2^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor} \le s(Q_n) \le s_{(F,I)}(Q_n) \le 2^{n-1}$.

Bibliography

- B. Bollobás and N. Th. Varopoulos, Representation of systems of measurable sets, Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. 78 (1974), 323–325.
- B. Brešar, W. Imrich, S. Klavžar, and B. Zmazek, *Hypercubes as direct products*, SIAM J. Discrete Math. 18 (2005), 778–786.
- [3] R. C. Brigham, R. D. Dutton, and S. T. Hedetniemi, *Security in graphs*, Discrete Appl. Math. 155 (2007), 1708–1714.
- [4] R. D. Dutton, On a graph's security number, Discrete Math. **309** (2009), 4443–4447.
- [5] _____, The evolution of a hard graph theory problem-secure sets, A course material of COT 6410: Computational Complexity, University of Central Florida (2010), Available at http://www.cs.ucf.edu/courses/cot6410/spr2010/doc/SecureSets.doc, Last accessed April 4, 2012.
- [6] R. D. Dutton, R. Lee, and R. C. Brigham, Bounds on a graph's security number, Discrete Appl. Math. 156 (2008), 695–704.
- [7] R. L. Graham, On primitive graphs and optimal vertex assignments, Ann. New York Acad. Sci. 75 (1970), 170–186.
- [8] P. Hall, On representatives of subsets, J. London Math. Soc. 10 (1935), 26–30.
- [9] P. R. Halmos and H. E. Vaughan, *The marriage problem*, Amer. J. Math. **72** (1950), 214–215.
- [10] G. Isaak, P. D. Johnson, and C. Petrie, *Integer and fractional security in graphs*, Discrete Appl. Math. **160** (2012), 2060–2062.
- [11] P. D. Johnson Jr. and C. Petrie, *Problem 8*, Alabama Journal of Mathematics 35 (Spring/Fall 2010).
- [12] K. Kozawa, Y. Otachi, and K. Yamazaki, Security number of grid-like graphs, Discrete Appl. Math. 157 (2009), 2555–2561.
- [13] P. Kristiansen, S. M. Hedetniemi, and S. T. Hedetniemi, Alliances in graphs, J. Combin. Math. Combin. Comput. 48 (2004), 157–177.
- [14] R. Rado, A theorem on general measure functions, Proc. London Math. Soc. 44 (1938), 61–91.

Appendices

Appendix A

An Alternative Proof that (I,I)-security Implies (F,F)-security

The notation here is as in Chapter 2. This proof predates the more elegant proof included in Chapter 2. It essentially follows the proof of Theorem BDH by Brigham et al [3].

Theorem. Let G = (V, E) be a graph and $S \subseteq V$. If S is (I,I)-secure, then S is (F,F)-secure.

Let $S \subseteq S' \subseteq V$. Let A be an attack on S' such that $A^*(v) = 0$ for all $v \in S' - S$. Let $\mathscr{A} = \{s \in S' | A^*(s) > D^*(s)\}$. Note that if $s \in S' - S$, then $s \notin \mathscr{A}$, because $A^*(s) = 0 \le D^*(s)$. A best defense of S is a defense D such that $\sum_{s \in \mathscr{A}} A^*(s) - D^*(s)$ is minimized. Assume in these best defenses, that every defending vertex sends out its entire unit of defense; that is, for $v \in S'$, and any best defense D, $\sum_{u \in N[v] \cap S} D(v, u) = 1$. An attack A is defendable if there is a defense D for which $\sum_{s \in \mathscr{A}} A^*(s) - D^*(s) = 0$; that is, $\mathscr{A} = \emptyset$.

If D is a best defense, another best defense D' can be found through one of two possible transformations. For $i \in S'$ such that $D^*(i) > A^*(i)$ and $j \in S'$,

1) If D(j,i) > 0, define $\gamma_1(i,j) = \min\{D(j,i), D^*(i) - A^*(i)\}$. Reduce D(j,i) by $\gamma_1(i,j)$ and increase D(j,j) by $\gamma_1(i,j)$.

2) If D(i,i) > 0 and D(j,i) = 0, define $\gamma_2(i) = \min\{D(i,i), D^*(i) - A^*(i)\}$. Reduce D(i,i) by $\gamma_2(i)$ and increase D(i,j) by $\gamma_2(i)$.

(Note that for both transformations, j must satisfy $D^*(j) \ge A^*(j)$, or D would not be a best defense.)

Given a best defense D, let \mathscr{D} be the set consisting of D and every defense that can be derived from D by repeated applications of transformations 1) and 2). Note that if $D^*(u) \ge A^*(u)$ for some $D \in \mathscr{D}$, then $D^*(u) \ge A^*(u)$ for all $D \in \mathscr{D}$. Let $V^+ \subseteq S'$ be $V^+ = \{v \in S' | D^*(v) > A^*(v) \text{ for some } D \in \mathscr{D} \}. \text{ Let } X = S' - V^+.$

Lemma 1. Let $x \in X$, $v \in S'$. Then D(v, x) = D'(v, x) and D(x, v) = D'(x, v), for all defenses D' in \mathcal{D} .

Proof. Let $\Delta, \Delta' \in \mathscr{D}$ such that Δ' is obtained from Δ by one of the transformations. If $x \in X$ is involved in transformation 1) or 2), then it must play the role of j, because $i \in V^+$, and $x \notin V^+$. So after the transformation $(\Delta')^*(x) > \Delta^*(x)$. Note that $\Delta^*(x) \leq A^*(x)$ because $x \notin V^+$. If $\Delta^*(x) = A^*(x)$, then after the transformation, $(\Delta')^*(x) > A^*(x)$, and $x \in V^+$, a contradiction. If $\Delta^*(x) < A^*(x)$, then after the transformation, $A^*(x) - \Delta^*(x) > A^*(x) - (\Delta')^*(x)$, contradicting that Δ is a best defense. \Box

Lemma 2. Let $\Delta \in \mathscr{D}$. Every $s \in N[X] \cap S'$ satisfies $\Delta(s, v) = 0$ for $v \in V^+ = S' - X$.

Proof. Let $s \in X$. Suppose that $\Delta(s, v) > 0$, for some $v \in V^+$. Since $v \in V^+$, there is a $\Delta' \in \mathscr{D}$ such that $(\Delta')^*(v) > A(v)$. Applying transformation 1) with i = v and j = s would result in a new defense Δ'' with $\Delta''(s, s) > \Delta'(s, s)$, contradicting Lemma 1.

Now let $s \in (N[X] \cap S') - X$. Note that $s \in V^+$. Suppose that $\Delta(s, y) > 0$ for some $y \in V^+$. Now s must have a neighbor $x \in X$ and by the first part of this proof, $\Delta(x, s) = 0$. We can assume $\Delta^*(y) > A^*(y)$ $(y \in V^+$, so $\Delta^*(y) \ge A^*(y)$. If $\Delta^*(y) = A^*(y)$, a series of transformations will result in a defense D' such that $(D')^*(y) > A^*(y)$. The vertex y does not play the role of i, because i already satisfies $\Delta^*(i) > A^*(i)$. If y = j and s = i, then in either transformation, s still sends defense to y afterwards). Applying transformation 1) with j = s and i = y results in a defense Δ' such that $(\Delta')^*(s) > A^*(s)$. (We started with $\Delta^*(s) \ge A^*(s)$.) Now apply transformation 2) with j = x and i = s. This results in a defense Δ'' where $\Delta''(s, x) > \Delta'(s, x)$, contradicting Lemma 1. \Box Suppose that S' is not defendable from an attack A, where $A^*(v) = 0$ for all $v \in S' - S$. Let V^+ and X be as above and let $X' = X \cap S$. If $v \in X - X'$, then $A^*(v) = 0$ and so $D^*(v) = 0$, because $v \notin V^+$. So by Lemma 2, for any $s \in N[X] \cap S'$, $v \in N[s] - X'$, D(s, v) = 0. In other words, all the defense power of $N[X] \cap S'$ is sent into X'. We have

$$|N[X] \cap S'| = \sum_{x \in X'} D^*(x) < \sum_{x \in X} A^*(x) = \sum_{x \in X} \sum_{v \in N[X] - S'} A(v, x)$$
$$= \sum_{v \in N[X] - S'} \sum_{x \in X} A(v, x) \le \sum_{v \in N[X] - S'} 1 = |N[X] - S'|.$$

Thus there is an $X \subseteq S'$ such that $|N[X] \cap S'| < |N[X] - S'|$. Lemma 3, below, states this result.

Lemma 3 Let G = (V, E) be a graph and $S \subseteq S' \subseteq V$. Let A be an attack on S', such that for $v \in S' - S$, $A^*(v) = 0$. If there is no successful defense of A, then there is an $X \subseteq S$ such that $|N[X] \cap S'| < |N[X] - S'|$.

Letting S = S' in Lemma 3, shows that if S is not (F,F)-secure, then there exists an $X \subseteq S$, such that $|N[X] \cap S| < |N[X] - S|$, and the Theorem follows.

Appendix B

A Table of Security Numbers

G	s(G)	$s_{(\mathrm{F},\mathrm{I})}(G)$	$s^u(G)$
P_n	1	1	1
C_n	2	2	2
F_n $n \ge 2$	2	$1 + \left\lceil \frac{n}{2} \right\rceil$	$1 + \left\lceil \frac{n}{2} \right\rceil$
$\frac{W_n}{n \ge 4}$	3	$1 + \left\lceil \frac{n+1}{2} \right\rceil$	$1 + \left\lceil \frac{n+1}{2} \right\rceil$
$P_m \Box P_n$	$\min\{m, n, 3\}$	$\min\{m, n, 4\}$	$\min\{m, n, 4\}$
	$\left\lceil \frac{n}{2} \right\rceil$	n-1	n-1
$K_{m,n}$ $2 \le m \le n, n \ne 2$	$\left\lceil \frac{m+n}{2} \right\rceil$	$m + \lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor$	$\min\{m+n-2,m+\left\lceil\frac{m(n-1)}{m+1}\right\rceil\}$
K_{n_1,\dots,n_k} $k \ge 3, n = \sum_{i=1}^k n_i,$ $n_k = \max_{1 \le i \le k} \{n_i\}$	$\left\lceil \frac{n}{2} \right\rceil$	$n - \left\lceil \frac{n_k}{2} \right\rceil$	$n - \left\lfloor \frac{n}{n - n_k + 1} \right\rfloor$

Table B.1: Security Numbers